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P R O C E E D I N G S 1 

------------------------------------------------------ 2 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 3 

  Meeting to order, the House Insurance 4 

Committee hearing on the Highmark/Independence Blue 5 

Cross Merger.  My name is Ron Buxton from Dauphin 6 

County.  I’ll be chairing this hearing this morning.  7 

I’d like my two colleagues to introduce themselves at 8 

this time. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 10 

  Representative Scott Boyd from the 43rd 11 

District, a portion of Lancaster County. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 13 

  And I’m Barb McIlvaine-Smith and this is 14 

my district and welcome all. 15 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 16 

  We thank Representative McIlvaine-Smith 17 

for having us here today.  I would like to call on our 18 

executive director who will read a message from the 19 

Chairman, Tony DeLuca.  I turn it over at this time to 20 

Rick Speese. 21 

  MR. SPEESE: 22 

  Good afternoon.  These are Tony's 23 

remarks.  As many of you know, his brother died on 24 

Friday, and so he’s dealing with that family issue at 25 
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home, but he wanted our remarks --- his remarks to be 1 

read into the record.  So good afternoon.  Welcome 2 

everyone to the Health Insurance Committee hearing 3 

today on proposed consolidation of Independence Blue 4 

Cross and Highmark.  We would first like to thank 5 

Representative McIlvaine-Smith for hosting the 6 

committee today.  Representative McIlvaine-Smith has 7 

been a breath of fresh air in Harrisburg and is an 8 

effective and forceful presence in the Democratic 9 

caucus and the general assembly.  We'd also like to 10 

thank the good folks here at East Goshen Township for 11 

graciously allowing the committee to hold our hearing 12 

here this afternoon.   13 

  Act 62 passed by the Legislature in July 14 

and signed by the Governor provided, among other 15 

important provisions, this committee and the Senate 16 

Insurance Committee with some specific authority 17 

regarding the review of proposed consolidations and 18 

mergers regarding Pennsylvania’s Blue Cross plans. 19 

  In addition, the Act provides the 20 

insurance commissioner with that authority to more 21 

closely peruse such proposed mergers.  Specifically 22 

the Act provided that the two committees can review 23 

all documents and filings, hold hearings and most 24 

importantly to develop written comments and 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

8

recommendations regarding all such mergers or 1 

consolidations.  The committees must submit any such 2 

comments within 45 days of the close of the public 3 

comment period, which is set by the insurance 4 

commissioner.  As most of you know Commissioner Ario 5 

has set the date for the close of the public comment 6 

period for September 30th.  The Commissioner may then 7 

issue a final order on or after a 105 days following 8 

that public comment period. 9 

  Also the Commissioner and his staff shall 10 

be available to provide testimony to the committees as 11 

they determine.  In this regard, we would like to 12 

thank Insurance Commissioner Ario for appearing before 13 

the committee today.  This will not be the last 14 

hearing the committee will hold on this issue.  We 15 

will have others.  Act 62 provides the insurance 16 

committee with this important responsibility, so it's 17 

incumbent upon the member to familiarize themselves 18 

with the many issues involved regarding this proposed 19 

consolidation.   20 

  The Insurance Commissioner has been 21 

tasked to decide whether or not this proposed merger 22 

is, in fact, a good deal for Pennsylvanians.  Some of 23 

the questions he must consider are how will this 24 

consolidation affect competition in the health 25 
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insurance marketplace?  What is the benefit to the 1 

policy holders of both companies after the merger?  2 

What affect will this have on health insurance rates 3 

now and in the future?  And what will this mean to the 4 

Blues social mission?  These are just a few of the 5 

hundreds of questions that must be answered before the 6 

Commissioner makes his final decision. 7 

  As I said, the House Insurance Committee 8 

will be a participant in this discussion and hopefully 9 

will be able to assist the Commissioner in this 10 

difficult task.   11 

  Finally, since the combined companies 12 

will, if the merger is approved, be one of the largest 13 

health insurers in the nation, we must get this right. 14 

This decision will have far reaching consequences on 15 

our state and the people the committee members 16 

represent.  This committee has until November 14th to 17 

provide the Commissioner with its thoughts, ideas and 18 

comments regarding the efficacy of this proposed 19 

consolidation.   20 

  In this regard, we will meet and decide 21 

as a committee what our input will be.  This issue is 22 

so compelling that we should, in a bipartisan way, 23 

offer as much constructive and instructive comments as 24 

possible reflecting the will of all the members’ 25 
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constituents.  Again, I’d like to welcome all of you 1 

here today and that those of you who will be offering 2 

testimony.  We may appreciate your willingness to 3 

appear here today.  Thank you.  Mr. Chair. 4 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 5 

  Are there any comments from the committee 6 

members before we begin testimony?  Seeing none, I’d 7 

like to call upon Joel Ario, Commissioner of the 8 

Department of Insurance at this time to present his 9 

testimony. 10 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 11 

  I’ve never been accused of not speaking 12 

loudly so I should be fine.  Good afternoon Chairman 13 

Buxton, Representative Boyd, Representative  14 

McIlvaine-Smith and Mr. Speese.  It's good to be here. 15 

I had not heard that Tony’s brother passed away, so my 16 

condolences on that.  I know that Tony doesn't miss 17 

these things if he doesn’t have to, so I appreciate 18 

the family time that he needs there.   19 

  For the record, my name is Joel Ario.  20 

I’m the Insurance Commissioner.  I’m here today to 21 

talk to you about the process that we're following in 22 

reviewing this proposed consolidation between Highmark 23 

and IBC.  And I underscore the word process because 24 

while my attorney is not with me today, he’s got 25 
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implanted in my brain the instruction that because I’m 1 

the ultimate decision maker on this proposal, I have 2 

to stay completely away from commenting on the merits 3 

of the case at this early stage in the process.  So I 4 

can talk about the process we’re going through, but I 5 

can’t talk about the substance or the merits of the 6 

different arguments that have been made.  And trust 7 

me, there have been robust argumentation on all sides 8 

of this proposal from all kinds of different 9 

stakeholders.  And it looks like you have a good list 10 

of them in front of you today, so I’ll be brief with 11 

my comments.  You can ask me some questions if you 12 

want to, and then give the other speakers plenty of 13 

time to get into the merits of the proposal from their 14 

prospective. 15 

  I’m going to --- well, let me first 16 

though say one other word of introduction on the 17 

comments that Rick read into the record by Chairman 18 

DeLuca.  We were very pleased that we were able to 19 

work out a legal change with the general assembly for 20 

two reasons.  One, we very much wanted this to be a 21 

collaborative process.  So somebody’s going to have to 22 

decide it in the end, and that’s going to be the 23 

Insurance Department and ultimately me.  But with that 24 

said, to have a collaborative process with the 25 
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Legislature as a major player and gets involved in as 1 

much of this and airing issues and so forth as 2 

possible and making recommendations, I think, is a 3 

very good thing because it’s a good collaborative 4 

process.   5 

  And then the second thing that reinforced 6 

this for me is something that I've said from the 7 

beginning when I came here last summer of 2007 was 8 

that if there’s any scenario that keeps me up at 9 

night, it's the one where I issue a decision and then 10 

a few days after the decision comes a comment in the 11 

form of, you know, did you consider X or Y?  And we 12 

go, oh, no, we didn’t consider X or Y.  Now, it’s too 13 

late to consider those things that haven't come up.  14 

So we have a very strong interest, and I do 15 

personally, in having every issue aired, every rock 16 

unturned and every question raised so that we make the 17 

very best decision we can for the good people of 18 

Pennsylvania here.  And I think that more process can 19 

only help that along.   20 

  Having said that, I’m going to talk for 21 

just a few minutes today on my testimony.  The first 22 

attachment to my testimony which is headed, Blues Form 23 

A Filings Chronology of Major Events.  I’ll just sort 24 

of talk through that chronology here, then make brief 25 
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reference to the attachments to it.   1 

  This proposed consolidation was first 2 

filed with us back on April 30th of 2007.  At that 3 

time it was a pretty thin filing.  We took a first 4 

review of the filing and came up with 71 questions by 5 

the time we were done picking through all the 6 

different details.  Those went to the companies in 7 

August 2007.  And just to give you an indication of 8 

how comprehensive and thorough those questions were, 9 

the first question we got an answer to ran more than a 10 

thousand pages of material from the Blues.  That came 11 

in in November, and it wasn’t really until February of 12 

this year 2008, almost a year after the filing, that 13 

we had initial responses to those 71 questions and 14 

started to really fill up the record here.  There's 15 

still ongoing work with those 71 questions, and we 16 

issued follow-up questions, and then they answer those 17 

and that begets more questions.  And I suspect that 18 

process will go on until the record finally closes on 19 

this transaction and the decision is made.  But it 20 

started back in April of 2007. 21 

  I'll talk for a minute on point number 22 

two on the chronology there.  Those are the standards 23 

that exist under law.  This is a transaction that’s 24 

guided by law.  And as you’ll see, there are seven 25 
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basic standards.  If they pass all seven of those 1 

standards then the consolidation under law would be 2 

approved.  If they fail any one of them, it would be 3 

disapproved or potentially it could be approved with 4 

conditions attached to it. 5 

  The three most important, our numbers are 6 

fairly technical there and do they have the financial 7 

strength and the right licenses and so forth to 8 

transact insurance and all the different lines they 9 

do.  It’s fairly straightforward.  But the three that 10 

are the most at issue, I think, in this transaction 11 

are little double I, which the standard, would this 12 

transaction substantially lessen competition in 13 

insurance in this Commonwealth or tend to create a 14 

monopoly?  The Chairman’s written comments focus on 15 

that competition question, and that really is a very 16 

key question.  And it’s not just the actual 17 

competition here but also potential competition that’s 18 

at stake here.  In the questions, we can get into some 19 

of the detail behind that standard, but there’s 20 

another three or four pages of law that are written on 21 

exactly what that standard means, unpacking that 22 

standard in terms of some prima facie cases and then 23 

some rebuttal to the prima facie cases and so forth. 24 

But that’s obviously a front and center question.  25 
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What will it do to competition in the Commonwealth? 1 

  But there are also a couple of other 2 

broader standards here that are important to 3 

highlight, too.  And one of them is number four on the 4 

list, and that is will the transaction make any --- 5 

will the parties make any material change in it’s 6 

business or corporate structure that are quote, unfair 7 

or unreasonable or fail to confer benefit on 8 

policyholders of the insurer are not in the public 9 

interest.  So the Legislature has given us specific 10 

guidance on this transaction, but also some fairly 11 

broadened standards to give us the ability to consider 12 

all the different aspects.  And you see the words 13 

there unfair, unreasonable, not in the public interest 14 

are quite broad words to look at as we review the 15 

transaction.  16 

  And then finally onto the next page 17 

there's the standard of the acquisition is likely to 18 

be hazardous or prejudicial to the insurance buying 19 

public.  So it’s the standard I just read, which makes 20 

the policyholders --- and that’s obviously one of the 21 

key constituencies to focus on here, what happens to 22 

the current policyholders.  But everybody in the 23 

Commonwealth is in one form or another a potential 24 

policyholder of these two companies, and so part of 25 
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the insurance buying public.  And so there's a broad 1 

standard to look at whether it’s hazardous or 2 

prejudicial.  Of course as we held our public 3 

hearings, any number of people had various takes on 4 

how it might be or might not be hazardous or 5 

prejudicial to the insurance buying public.  And a lot 6 

of that material, you can find on our webpage on the 7 

record. 8 

  And that brings me to my next comment 9 

which is that we started right after this transaction 10 

was filed.  We opened it for public comment, and we've 11 

continued that public comment period.  And as Rick 12 

noted, that we’ve now announced that we’re closing the 13 

public comment period at the end of this month so that 14 

we can move into the legislative stage and into a 15 

decision-making stage.  We did open that public 16 

comment period way back in May of 2007, and then we 17 

have been posting all of the public comment and all of 18 

the responses from the Blues.  All that’s in the 19 

public domain.  As everybody knows, in insurance there 20 

are some matters, particularly relating to financial 21 

status, that are confidential under law and under law 22 

that the legislature, the general assembly has passed. 23 

But everything that’s not confidential is posted to 24 

the webpage so that each time that we get a new public 25 
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comment, we, as matter of course, send that to the two 1 

companies asking them for their response to that 2 

public comment.  And then we post that comment and it 3 

has not been uncommon for the person who made the 4 

comment to read the response and then have another 5 

comment.  And so many exchanges that have gone on 6 

here. 7 

  This process, you know, we could probably 8 

study this thing for 15 years, but we need to make a 9 

decision.  And so at some point we need to cut it off 10 

and we picked September 30th as that date.  But I 11 

would encourage anybody who's listening or has been 12 

apart of this, interested in this transaction to look 13 

at the webpage.  There's just a wealth of material up 14 

there on the transaction.   15 

  Point five on this list briefly 16 

highlights that the Department of Justice issued a  17 

no-action letter on this transaction back in May of 18 

2007.  Because it carried over into 2008, they issued 19 

another letter of this year of no action.  Those are 20 

not decisions on the merits.  They are just decisions 21 

that the federal government's not going to take any 22 

action on it.  The state standards are obviously 23 

different in some material respects from the federal 24 

standards, even on the competition question, much less 25 
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on some of the other questions. 1 

  Then there's bullets there that talk 2 

about some of the license transfers and the fact that 3 

we’ve been asking questions and so forth.  If you get 4 

down to point eight on the list, you see that we 5 

started hiring experts in May and June of 2007.  The 6 

first experts that we hired were the two legal firms, 7 

Wolf Block and Hangley Aronchik, and they have been 8 

with us throughout the transaction as the outside 9 

consult on the transaction.  In November, we hired the 10 

Blackstone Group, probably needs no introduction at 11 

least anybody who reads --- even once in a while reads 12 

the Wall Street Journal very top tier national firm 13 

with many different involvements.  Probably all of us 14 

can say some good things and some bad things about 15 

Blackstone if you read the papers, but their insurance 16 

practice is really top notch.  It’s specialized in 17 

insurance practice that focuses on these kind of 18 

transactions.  And if you look at their history of 19 

involvement in health transactions and even in  20 

Blues-related health transactions, they tend to 21 

represent the regulator in most of those transactions. 22 

That’s one of the reasons we picked them.  We wanted 23 

somebody who had experience representing the regulator 24 

in these transactions.   25 
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  And then the second thing that was 1 

important to me was that they’ve been on both sides.  2 

They have been involved in the Maryland transaction 3 

where CareFirst is seeking to go for-profit.  They 4 

were involved in that transaction which was rejected. 5 

They were involved in the Washington and Alaska 6 

transaction Premera, another proposal to go for-profit 7 

that was also rejected.  But then in New York State, 8 

they’ve been involved in several transactions that 9 

have been approved.  So in my mind that shows the kind 10 

of balance, I think, that they certainly have shown 11 

that balance in our work with them here. 12 

  They are, by the way, our general 13 

contractor.  The other experts that we have primarily 14 

working with them.  The lawyers are separate, but the 15 

economists that I’m going to talk about now LECG is 16 

again a very reputable national firm.  The principle 17 

in that firm that's working with us is a fellow named 18 

Jim Langenfeld who had 15 years of leadership 19 

positions at the Justice Department on the competition 20 

issues and, you know, speaks from memory about all of 21 

the details of the various theories of competition and 22 

how they play out in the different kinds of 23 

transactions that have gone on in the healthcare world 24 

related to competition. 25 
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  The story I like to tell about Jim is 1 

that when he came and interviewed, he said, I have to 2 

ask you the question about whether you know which way 3 

you want this to come out because I’ve been asked by 4 

several other parties to represent them in this 5 

transaction.  But when I've looked into it, they 6 

mostly already know what they thought the answers 7 

were, and they just wanted to use me to kind of help 8 

them substantiate those answers.  And if that’s what 9 

your interested in, then I’m not interested.  I’m very 10 

interested in this transaction, but I don’t know yet 11 

how it comes out.  And I said, that’s exactly the kind 12 

of person that we want here.  We want somebody who's 13 

down the middle who doesn’t have their mind made up 14 

yet as they look at the facts.  And I think as the --- 15 

as you see some of the work of our experts, you’ll see 16 

that it's very balanced kind of work.   17 

  I made news last time by announcing that 18 

September 30th, close date that was up at the Erie 19 

hearing.  And I’ll make a little news here today by 20 

saying that the expert reports from Blackstone and 21 

from LECG will be posted to our webpage in the next 22 

two days.  At least by Wednesday, maybe even earlier 23 

than that, but we’ll have them up there by September 24 

10th.  And they're not complete reports because, 25 
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again, we’re still in the review of the transaction, 1 

and we wanted to get public comment on those before 2 

the public commentary closes.  And also at a time when 3 

it could still influence to the extent people bring 4 

new information to our attention, we wanted to do that 5 

earlier process than later.  So those reports --- and 6 

we will send out e-mails to people who are on our  7 

e-mail list and so forth.  But they’ll come out 8 

sometime at least by Wednesday of this week, so those 9 

are the experts that we've hired.  And they’ve been 10 

hard at work asking their own sets of questions to 11 

companies and so forth. 12 

  Then the next big step was December of 13 

last year.  We sort of took a stock of where we were 14 

and said, you know, things have to move at some 15 

measured pace here.  This is again the kind of 16 

transaction that can go on forever, and so we 17 

announced in a press release in December of last year 18 

that we were going to try to stick to a timetable of 19 

deciding the matter in 2008, and that the major steps 20 

in that process will be public hearings in the early 21 

summer and then a decision by the end of the year.   22 

  We did meet the first half of that 23 

timetable with public hearings July 8th in Pittsburgh, 24 

July 10th in Harrisburg and July 15th and 16th in 25 
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Philadelphia.  So we did do those public hearings.  We 1 

had more than a hundred witnesses at those public 2 

hearings, again, expressing the whole range of 3 

viewpoints.  If you can think of a viewpoint on this 4 

transaction, I’m sure it was expressed at those 5 

hearings.  So we went through that part of the 6 

process.   7 

  Then the new law came into effect just 8 

about that same time.  Actually, it was signed by the 9 

Governor in the middle of those hearings on July 9th 10 

at a ceremony in my hometown of Hershey.  That was 11 

connected to the autism bill, which probably most of 12 

you have some memories of it from the last legislative 13 

session.  So we’ve already talked about what that law 14 

does essentially.  It says that after the public 15 

comment period closes, there’s a 45-day window for 16 

legislative hearings and recommendations to be made.  17 

So that takes us into the middle of November.  And 18 

then there’s a 60-day period that we have to consider 19 

those recommendations and all the other material in 20 

the record and make a decision.  And if we made it at 21 

the earliest date, we could then can make the 22 

decision.  It would be sometime around January 13th, 23 

14th depending on how you count the 60 days there.  So 24 

that’s kind of a timetable.  So we’re a little bit of 25 
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a slippage on our --- get it done by the end of 2008 1 

but not much. 2 

  There have been then some more back and 3 

forth, and there are a lot of letters on the record 4 

with questions and issues that still have to be dealt 5 

with on the record.  Again, almost all of the initial 6 

questions have been answered, and all of the questions 7 

that have been asked up until the middle of August 8 

have now been addressed by the parties.  People say, 9 

well, does that mean it's done with all the back and 10 

forth?  No, because each time we get an answer from 11 

the companies and each time we get a new public 12 

comment, that begets some more inquiry.  And so the 13 

public comment period ends, but the record stays open. 14 

It will stay open for the legislative recommendations, 15 

and it will stay open as we continue to develop 16 

material right up until the end.  And in fact, after 17 

the decision, the record will stay open as the courts 18 

take a look at it.  Hopefully we make a decision that 19 

doesn’t fall upon on the course, but there’s certainly 20 

--- probably be some court attention to the decision, 21 

so the record will stay open.  You know, if the last 22 

transaction with Highmark is any indication, the 23 

record is just now closing on that transaction which 24 

was ten years ago. 25 
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  Again, the notion that the record --- the 1 

public comment period closed September 30th is noted 2 

in the chronology, and then also another reference to 3 

the website.  And again, I encourage you to look 4 

there.   5 

  I’ll conclude by just giving you a brief 6 

summary of the four --- or six attachments in your 7 

material.  There’s first the August 7th, 2007 letter 8 

which has the 71 questions that we initially asked.  9 

That’s a very good primer on what are the real issues 10 

in this case, at least from the Department's 11 

prospective.   12 

  There’s then that December ’07 news 13 

release setting up the timetable that we hope to 14 

achieve.  There are then statements from our experts 15 

that were delivered at the public hearings that 16 

outline in more detail the credentials of the experts 17 

and what the scope of there work is.  And again you're 18 

reminded that their reports will be on the webpage in 19 

the next couple of days.   20 

  Then there’s this copy of the notice that 21 

had been posted in the Bulletin about the September 22 

30th close date of the public comment period for the 23 

legally-nerdish-detailed people.  They will note that 24 

that says intends to close on September 30th, so there 25 
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will be another notice, a follow-up notice that 1 

confirms that that will be posted to the Bulletin that 2 

comes out, I believe, September 20th or thereabouts. 3 

  Then there’s a copy of the letter that we 4 

sent in August of this year which was our last letter 5 

to the company saying there are some details that we 6 

really want to get addressed in order to close the 7 

record and those are the things that have been 8 

addressed so that we can close the --- I keep saying 9 

close the record.  I mean close the public comment 10 

period.  The record will stay open for a long time.  11 

And then finally there is material from --- that I’m 12 

sure all of you are familiar with since it's 13 

legislative material, the competitive standards and 14 

some of the detail that lies behind the phrase, 15 

substantially lessen competition.  With that I’ll 16 

conclude and I'd be happy to answer any questions. 17 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 18 

  Thank you, Commissioner.  Since we began 19 

we've been joined by Representative Curt Schroder from 20 

Chester County, Representative Tom Killion from 21 

Delaware County and Representative Manderino from 22 

Philadelphia County.  Are there any members wishing 23 

recognition for questions?  Barb McIlvaine-Smith? 24 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 25 
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  I just wanted to make sure I understood 1 

that the 71 questions that you put together, they have 2 

all been answered at this point by Highmark and IBC? 3 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 4 

  Yes, Representative, that is correct.  5 

Now, do we still have some details that we're trying 6 

to nail down in those questions?  Yes.  But the basic 7 

answers are in.  Again, as I said, if we’re doing our 8 

job right, almost every time they give us some more 9 

information, we’re going to --- my experts and my 10 

staff look at it, and we’re going to have some more 11 

questions that keep getting more and more narrowly 12 

focused.  But as general matter, all of those 13 

questions have been answered, yes. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 15 

  Okay.  Thank you. 16 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 17 

  Representative Schroder? 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 19 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good afternoon, 20 

Chairman Ario. 21 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 22 

  Good afternoon. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 24 

  I have a question or line of questions, I 25 
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guess, just regarding the process and the involvement 1 

of the general assembly from this point forward.  You 2 

mentioned in your testimony that when comments close, 3 

the insurance committee, this committee, will have the 4 

opportunity to weigh in and make its comments and 5 

recommendations and whatnot.   6 

  I guess my first question is, what 7 

weight, you know, does the Department --- or you in 8 

particular, what weight will you give to those 9 

comments and recommendations?  You know, sometimes I 10 

wonder if things just aren’t put in a binder and put 11 

up on the shelf.  Not the Insurance Department 12 

directly, I’m talking about in general.  Never to be 13 

really seriously considered.  I guess what assurances 14 

can you give us that the recommendations of this 15 

committee will, you know, have some impact on this? 16 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 17 

  Very good question, Representative. 18 

They’ll be giving a great deal of weight by me and by 19 

my staff.  It will become weighed in the process where 20 

you have the benefit of seeing all the material that 21 

has already come in, so we're now at a refined level, 22 

I think, where the input here can be more focused as 23 

the record has developed.  I always create a great 24 

deal of attention to whatever the legislature sends my 25 
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way because you’re the --- in some ways, you’re the 1 

Board of Directors, along with the Governor for me, 2 

and that’s kind of how I look at it.  And if there's a 3 

concern that you have, it's likely a concern that many 4 

of your constituents have.  And so I intend to give it 5 

a great deal of attention, and, in fact, that's why we 6 

were able to agree to the law, which does require us, 7 

you know --- if there’s any doubt about this, the law 8 

requires us that ---.  I think, the language is 9 

respond in detail to whatever recommendations are made 10 

by the legislature.  So I very much look forward to 11 

that step in the process.  Before you came in, I did 12 

mention that to me the worst case scenario is that 13 

somehow an issue doesn’t get identified and addressed 14 

during the process and comes up later after the 15 

decision has been made.  That’s worst case, the 16 

haunting scenario for me, so I have as much into this 17 

as you do in vetting all the different issues as 18 

thoroughly as possible. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 20 

  After that process is concluded, then 21 

what role does the general assembly in general play 22 

after that?  You know, we’ve had several different 23 

bills that have been considered each, I think, with 24 

some differing roles in the general assembly.  So in 25 
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the current law, does the general assembly have any 1 

input or say over, let's say, savings that are a 2 

result of the merger? 3 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 4 

  Let me answer the general question first 5 

and then the specific second.  As a general matter,  6 

the legislature's involvement in the substance of the 7 

decision is ended with a comment, so it’s our turn to 8 

react to the comments and make a final decision.  One 9 

of the issues that we eventually reached an agreement 10 

on was that in this kind of situation, somebody’s got 11 

to make the decision.  It can’t be a collaborative 12 

process, and so at the end of the day we make the 13 

decision with all that input.  So that’s the general 14 

answer.   15 

  Now, as to money, that’s up the road 16 

several steps.  The first issue is, does this 17 

transaction meet the standards?  If it does not meet 18 

the standards, it’s disapproved, end to the issues.  19 

If it does meet the standards, then it could be that 20 

there will be conditions imposed on it because maybe 21 

it doesn’t --- maybe it meets them but not fully 22 

without the conditions.  And some of those conditions 23 

people have speculated could include money, which is 24 

entirely possible.  And if that were the case, the 25 
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legislature has anticipated that in the law that was 1 

passed back in 2007 and then reaffirmed and tightened 2 

down a little bit in the 2008 law which says that any 3 

monies that are handed over to the public on the 4 

public side through this transaction, so we’re not 5 

talking about savings that the companies might incur 6 

in their own internal operations but any monies that 7 

are as a result of this --- say there was a condition 8 

that the companies contribute X amount to the CHR type 9 

account for adultBasic or something, that those kind 10 

of public monies will be subject to legislative 11 

appropriation.   12 

  There have been concerns about the way 13 

the CHR original agreement came together.  So this 14 

time it’s very clear that if there’s money, the 15 

Insurance Department is not an appropriating 16 

authority.  The legislature is and, in fact, the CHR 17 

money has been appropriated, too, over the last 18 

several years.  So were there's money here, the law 19 

says that the legislature appropriates that money. 20 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 21 

  Do you have the authority to as part of 22 

whatever agreement --- let’s assume just for the sake 23 

of this question that the merger goes through.  Do you 24 

have the authority to require or negotiate any rate 25 
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reductions, you know, as part of that agreement 1 

package? 2 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 3 

  That implant in my brain I talked about 4 

before you came that my lawyers have would say that’s 5 

a substance question that I should not venture into. 6 

But you can read, some people commented on that.  7 

There will be people who would say, we don’t have the 8 

authority.  There would be a lot of dispute about 9 

exactly what authority we have to do what kinds of the 10 

things.  And if I start answering some of the easier 11 

ones, then pretty soon I'll have a hard time drawing 12 

the line.  So I think even though I would like to 13 

answer that specific one, I shouldn't. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 15 

  I understand.  I’ll just close by saying 16 

this.  You know, one of my concerns about this and a 17 

couple of the comments that you made about what all 18 

might be possible for certain things to happen and the 19 

agreements to be made, you know, knowing the track 20 

record of the general assembly and frankly the 21 

administration to some point, I can see agreements and 22 

deals being cut, if you will, perhaps on an informal 23 

basis, that would, you know, deal with the general 24 

assembly getting its hands on the money as a result of 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

32

the savings to put in whatever, you know, pet program 1 

at the moment, you know, we might be forwarding or 2 

getting hands on the so-called Blues surpluses and 3 

that sort of thing.  And there were attempts 4 

previously to basically ensconce that into this law to 5 

have some sort of super committee set up in the 6 

legislature that would, you know, be used to do just 7 

that kind of thing.  I’m glad it didn’t pass, but I 8 

think the danger is still there.   9 

  And you know, my preference certainly 10 

would be that whatever savings --- if there is to be a 11 

merger, whatever savings would come out of it, and 12 

whatever the disposition of any surplus that is 13 

determined to, in fact, exist, that that would go into 14 

rate reductions and that would go into premium 15 

savings, or that would be returned to the employers 16 

and the individuals who paid it into the companies in 17 

order to create that fund that exists right now.  So 18 

with that, I appreciate you being here today and 19 

joining us in Chester County and look forward to, you 20 

know, working with the Department as we go through 21 

these issues. 22 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 23 

  Thank you for those comments.  Thank you 24 

for your work in 2005 and earlier this year.  And if I 25 
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can just underscore one point because I do think it's 1 

a very important point.  The first decision here is 2 

whether this meets the legal standard.  That’s really 3 

my obligation and the Insurance Department's 4 

obligation is to review this under legal standards and 5 

make that determination quite apart from any of these 6 

notions of how conditions may or may not help a deal 7 

if it passes the basic threshold.   8 

  And the reason I emphasize that is I 9 

agree with you that there's greater potential here for 10 

somebody to look at a kind of a short term --- a gee, 11 

if we can get a little bit of money for this or that 12 

program.  A billion dollars actually in this size 13 

transactions, a trillion dollar decision probably over 14 

the next 10 to 20 years, certainly over the next 20 15 

years, a trillion dollar decision, that’s a small 16 

piece of change really compared to the impact on the 17 

marketplace.   18 

  So the decision, I think, the legislature 19 

has right now, it should be made under these standards 20 

and not for the subject, gee, if we can just get a 21 

little bit of money for a couple programs now, then 22 

that ought to influence how we decided this in terms 23 

for the marketplace for the next generation, not any 24 

short-term issues of the sort that you described. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 1 

  The committee's been joined by 2 

Representative Josh Shapiro from Montgomery County and 3 

Representative Eddie Day Pashinski, Luzerne County.  4 

The Chair recognizes --- and we have an ambitious 5 

schedule today.  If we can really keep our questions 6 

concise and to the point so we can move along and as 7 

quickly as possible.  The Chair recognizes 8 

Representative Boyd. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 10 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Real concisely 11 

and quickly.  What consideration in the decision-12 

making process do you play looking at the impact on 13 

the provider network?  We talked a lot about 14 

competition and how that works its way out with the 15 

people who buy the insurance policies, if you will, 16 

the policyholders.  Do you look at the impact, the 17 

potential impact, on a merger of this size with the 18 

provider network?  Does that come in to play at all 19 

other than that they have the ability to submit 20 

comments? 21 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 22 

  Representative Boyd, there certainly have 23 

been active commentators on the transaction, and it 24 

does play an important role in the overall picture 25 
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because when you think about what --- it’s all about 1 

the consumer and the citizens of the state, that’s the 2 

focus.  But when you think about the role the 3 

providers play, if providers are helped here to 4 

provide higher quality care, that does play down the 5 

line.  If it’s going to somehow disadvantage them in 6 

some way, that’s likely to play down the line.  So all 7 

of those issues, they need to be expressed, I think, 8 

in terms of how they effect the end users of 9 

healthcare.  But clearly what does or doesn't happen 10 

to providers does have those kinds of impacts, so it’s 11 

very relevant to the decision. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 13 

  The reason I brought it up is a matter of 14 

what, I believe, would be the company law.  When I 15 

look at the bullet points as to what goes into this 16 

consideration, there’s a lot about competition, but 17 

it's not specifically directed towards competition 18 

within the provider network.  So I just would 19 

encourage you to make sure that we interpret 20 

competition in a broad sense, meaning the end net 21 

impact on the provider network as well as the 22 

policyholder network.  My other question, Mr. 23 

Chairman, I’ll keep to myself because it’s more 24 

philosophical.  Thank you. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 1 

  Any other questions?  Representative 2 

Manderino? 3 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 4 

  Thank you.  And thank you, Commissioner. 5 

Just quickly, you mentioned that the legislative input 6 

period comes at the end, but I apologize if this has 7 

already been answered.  But does it come at the very 8 

end?  So for example, will we already have the input 9 

from your two, you know, LECG and the Black ---? 10 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 11 

  Blackstone. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 13 

  Blackstone.  Will we have their analyses, 14 

et cetera, before the comment period closes for us? 15 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 16 

  Yes.  I had said earlier that those 17 

reports from our experts will be on the webpage in the 18 

next couple of days.  That’s the news I'm ---. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO:  20 

  Well, I told you. 21 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 22 

  I try to make news that these legislature 23 

hearings, and so those will be on the page.  And 24 

basically all of the answers to all the questions are 25 
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already posted.  I did say and I’ll continue to say 1 

that when somebody impresses that point to the detail 2 

of, are you saying that absolutely nothing happens 3 

after September 30th, it's never going to be like that 4 

because it's just in the nature these exchanges that 5 

they’ll go on.  But on the whole and on the main, 6 

we’re closing the public comment period because the 7 

vast majority of the material has already been 8 

received and answered. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 10 

  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 11 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 12 

  Representative Shapiro? 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 14 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just very 15 

briefly, a follow up on that.  I want to make sure 16 

that I understand.  The information is provided and 17 

then is made available to the public and to this 18 

committee.  Is there any formal process for this 19 

committee, outside of maybe the normal rule-making 20 

process, or can you just sort of describe succinctly 21 

what the role of this committee will be in that 22 

process? 23 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 24 

  Sure.  The law provides for a 45-day 25 
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period under which the --- and it focuses in its final 1 

version on the two insurance committees.  So the House 2 

Insurance Committee and the Senate Insurance Committee 3 

have the authority to hold hearings and engage in 4 

whatever other process they would so desire.  And then 5 

at the end of the 45-day period make recommendations 6 

to us, and then it requires us, as part of our 7 

decision, to answer in detail, to address in detail  8 

each of those recommendations.   9 

  There’s nothing more prescriptive about 10 

how the hearings go or anything like that.  It’s just 11 

a general legislative process, but the deliverable 12 

that the law envisions is a set of recommendations 13 

that would then be addressed by the Department, by me 14 

in the final order.   15 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 16 

  And just finally, so technically the 17 

insurance commissioner can't formally accept or reject 18 

a merger without receiving comments or at least 19 

without having that opportunity to receive comments 20 

from both the House Insurance Committee and the Senate 21 

Insurance Committee; is that correct? 22 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 23 

  It’s the opportunity, yes.  The law does 24 

provide that if the Legislature were not to make 25 
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comments, the clock still ticks on 105 days.  But 1 

there's the 45-day period and then there's a 60-day 2 

period after that before a decision can be made. 3 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 4 

  Thank you, Commissioner.  Thank you, Mr. 5 

Chairman. 6 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 7 

  Thank you, Commissioner.  We appreciate 8 

your testimony today.   9 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 10 

  Thank you. 11 

  COMMISSIONER ARIO: 12 

  Our next presenter is Gene Veno, 13 

Executive Vice President of Pennsylvania Chiropractic 14 

Association.  Gene, welcome. 15 

  MR. VENO: 16 

  Good afternoon and thank you for the 17 

honor to be here today on behalf of the Pennsylvania 18 

Chiropractic Association.  I’ll give a few brief 19 

comments.  I will not read the entire testimony.  I’m 20 

sure, Kathleen, you’re very pleased with that.  I’ve 21 

been before this committee many times, and over the 22 

years some of the same issues continue to come before 23 

the forefront of our association and the providers 24 

that we represent.   25 
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  On behalf of the Pennsylvania 1 

Chiropractic Association and the 3,500 doctors that 2 

are licensed in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, we 3 

still see some of the issues that continue to be a 4 

problem within this organization of Independence Blue 5 

Cross and with Highmark Blue Shield.  Now, I could be 6 

here today to completely oppose the merger, but I 7 

would say on the face value that on its record of 8 

information that we’ve received to date, there are 9 

some questions that this legislative process still has 10 

not addressed. 11 

  I heard Representative Boyd speak to the 12 

issue of providers, and I will in my brief make 13 

remarks talk about that.  But the other issue that I’m 14 

concerned about is how the competition --- if this 15 

merger were to go through, would it impacted not only 16 

for the provider networks but the subscribers, the 17 

employer groups and the many consumers that would be 18 

in need of health insurance?   19 

  Now, I've heard testimony and I’ve given 20 

testimony before the House Insurance Commissioner in 21 

July of this year.  I’ve written in July of 2007 on 22 

this issue, and I still have not seen the economist 23 

from Highmark or IBC address it.  What we know in the 24 

insurance business, when I used to represent Manage 25 
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Care in other states, when another company would come 1 

into the market the first thing the insurance 2 

commission would do would bring that insurance company 3 

in and say, okay, what will this do to the economies 4 

of scale within the industry that you are now 5 

participating in?   6 

  For example, that term in the economic 7 

genre is called the debt spiral, and I see that 8 

happening in Pennsylvania when the two large 9 

healthcare companies, both Highmark and Independence 10 

Blue Cross, come together to form the largest 11 

conglomerate of healthcare, not only in Pennsylvania, 12 

the 67 counties, but the United States.  Now, I can 13 

refer back to 1980 and a few others when the federal 14 

government looked upon a conglomerate that was 15 

representing the many consumers.  And, again, I have 16 

still not heard that from the Insurance Commission who 17 

we have a good working relationship with and the 18 

Legislature on what took place in the early '80s when 19 

the federal government said, we think there’s a 20 

monopoly here and it’s not best being served for the 21 

consumer.   22 

  Now, ladies and gentleman of this 23 

committee, I ask you to really look at the economies 24 

of scale that this merger, if it were to be approved, 25 
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would create within the healthcare industry in the 1 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania?  Now, I can easily sit 2 

in this seat and represent any of the other insurance 3 

carriers that may come before you today opposing this 4 

merger on its face, but that’s not my job here today. 5 

  My job here today is to tell you what I 6 

see on behalf of my doctors and the problems that we 7 

have had over the last so many years with respect to 8 

dealing with these two large insurance industries.  9 

But I’ll continue on the aspect of the economics and 10 

the concern that I have.  If they do merge, you're 11 

looking at a MA Bell of the 1980s, and it's almost to 12 

the effect of what you didn’t do in this session as 13 

compared to what happened in the 1980s with MA Bell.  14 

You're starting it all over again.  And how soon 15 

before the federal government will be looking at this 16 

merger as one of its networking for the consumer and 17 

the businesses in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania?   18 

  I have three points that I would like to 19 

talk about on behalf of doctors of chiropractic. 20 

Before the Insurance Commissioner, he spoke on the 21 

issues of how the seamlessness will be established 22 

between Highmark's computer plans and also 23 

Independence Blue Cross.  Why travel to Pittsburgh at 24 

the House Insurance Committee?  Because I wanted to 25 
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get closer to Dr. Melani, the President of Highmark, 1 

because many of the letters that we have written have 2 

still gone unheard of.  We have not had any response 3 

from him on the issues of co-payments.  Now, you know 4 

in the economy that we are seeing now in this economy 5 

of being a down-turning economy, there’s some issues 6 

as relates to co-payments.  We’ve heard of high  7 

co-payments, but are you aware of the multiple  8 

co-payments?  Highmark imposes multiply co-payments on 9 

its many subscribers.  We’re not talking $25, $50, but 10 

in most cases a provider that is treating a subscriber 11 

of Highmark would have a co-payment that could be as 12 

high as $75.  Now, what we find here is the premium 13 

may only be $70 or $60.  The doctor is in turn giving 14 

back the patient the differential between the premium 15 

that the employer paid for and the co-payment that the 16 

patient is responsible to.   17 

  Now, that’s not healthcare.  That is a 18 

bait and switch as I am concerned, and it should be 19 

looked at to how these two plans, when they do merge 20 

if that is what is approved, will handle co-payments. 21 

They're too high, premiums are too high and the 22 

benefits are not going to the consumer.  They're not 23 

going to the employer.  They're going to the two 24 

companies that are going to be merging to be a larger 25 
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conglomerate in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 1 

  The other issue, there is a recent court 2 

case, the Soloman Love case, out of Florida that 3 

involved a provider of Highmark.  That provider, and 4 

I’ve come before this committee on the issue of retro 5 

review complaints, he filed an argument in court that 6 

his review should not go back 36 months, 48 months or 7 

beyond that.  And the settlement came to an 18-month 8 

review, and that is the policy now that they are 9 

employing for medical doctors.   10 

  Now, I ask this committee because since 11 

we’ve had many issues before Chairman Micozzie and 12 

Chairman DeLuca in the past sessions, the issue of 13 

retro review is still a concern to us.  We see 14 

Highmark having a policy one way and Independence Blue 15 

Cross having it another way.  Our concern there is if 16 

this merger were to take place, what is going to be 17 

the national guidelines and standards on retro review 18 

for all healthcare providers, not just doctors of 19 

chiropractic, but all healthcare providers that are 20 

participating within the network. 21 

  The concern that I have at this point, 22 

there seems to be --- Highmark has now set a standard 23 

of 18 months.  Independence Blue Cross is still going 24 

back 36 months, and the way they're going into the 25 
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offices, and not only doctors of chiropractic, 1 

psychologists, dentists, et cetera is just showing up 2 

asking for 20 files reviewing for the last 36 months. 3 

Now, how did all that happen?  I can speak to our 4 

profession because in 2003 when HIPAA was finally 5 

passed, the Act of 1996 and became effective in 2003, 6 

Highmark and Independence Blue Cross eliminated what 7 

we call local codes. 8 

  Now, I won’t get to deep into the issues 9 

of local codes, but previously the 2003 doctors of 10 

chiropractic were allowed to go basically three codes. 11 

Whatever they did, it was three codes.  After 2003 12 

HIPAA made it mandatory that all healthcare providers 13 

would follow the American Medical Association CPT Act 14 

or the procedural terminology manual.  Good for us.  15 

I’m not here today asking for fee increases.  I’m not 16 

even worried about that.  Our doctors have been 17 

evolved in the networks, and that is not the issue.   18 

  But the big issue is how are they going 19 

to establish that that retro review since 2003 are now 20 

occurring more and more where prior to 2003 they 21 

didn’t occur because there was nothing to review?  22 

Now, let me be perfectly clear as I said before the 23 

House Insurance Committee, Insurance Commissioner and 24 

this House Insurance Committee, where there is fraud 25 
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and abuse in a claims processing system, our amendment 1 

that was in Representative's bill clearly protects 2 

only the insurance companies and the subscribers and 3 

everyone involved, not the provider.  And we will 4 

stand on that record by saying that a good solid 5 

review program has to have a good fraud and abuse 6 

guideline into it.  And that amendment does clearly 7 

state that.  So we’re asking that how will Highmark 8 

and Independence Blue Cross establish a solid retro 9 

review program?  Look at UPMC, Capital Blue Cross, 10 

First Priority, 12 months.  The medical society, if 11 

you were to hear their testimony before this committee 12 

of the last session, they wanted 90 days.  We were 13 

willing to compromise with 12 months.  We still think 14 

12 months is fair.  This general assembly voted 15 

unanimously on two different sessions to vote this 16 

bill into law.  It is now before the Senate Banking 17 

Committee.  Hopefully we will get a chance to speak 18 

before them, but I urge you, I employ you if you could 19 

to contact Senator Don White and ask him, what is his 20 

policy on retro reviews?  Because I still have not 21 

heard from Independence Blue Cross or Highmark on what 22 

they're going to do if this merger were to be 23 

approved. 24 

  And the final comment, and then I would 25 
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be more than happy to answer any questions, is that 1 

you all know that when you have an insurance claim you 2 

have to get it in within 12 months.  That’s the 3 

process.  If you have a family member that is sick, 4 

make sure you get your claim in at 12 months because 5 

on that 13th month that claim is null and void and 6 

it’s over regardless if it’s major medical or part of 7 

your business claim.  But that’s not the way it is 8 

with healthcare providers.  After the 12 month they 9 

are subjected a review beyond that as I stated.   10 

  And the final point on the claims 11 

processing.  When Independence and Highmark 12 

established their new computer platform, the systems 13 

platform really wasn’t seamless.  Now, I heard the 14 

economist speak to that in Pittsburgh when they said 15 

well, it will be a seamless computer transfer, no 16 

claim problems whatever.  Well, you can bring 17 

Commissioner Ario back up here and ask about the 170 18 

complaints that are before his department of 19 

enforcement on the issues that my many providers have 20 

filed on behalf of the doctors as their patients where 21 

they made a decision one way on the edits and then 12 22 

months later they said, oops, we made a mistake, we 23 

want $4.3 million back. 24 

  Now, do I tell my doctors, my providers 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

48

to go to the patients and ask for their money back?  1 

The money's already been filed, taxes have already 2 

been paid and it’s just not possible.  Now, I see on 3 

the docket you have Dr. Udvarhelyi.  I’ve spoken to 4 

him many times on the issues, and again truthfully we 5 

have a good working relationship.  Maybe not after 6 

today, but we do have a good working relationship with 7 

both of these entities.   8 

  But the issue there is, one, they have to 9 

get it right, and they haven’t gotten it right yet, 10 

independently speaking.  So how can they, before this 11 

merger is formed, be sure that the computer systems 12 

will be in place, the provider networks will be 13 

established appropriately and of course the premiums 14 

will be set in such a way that you're not going to 15 

wipeout the other insurance carriers in the other 16 

parts of the state where it's very important to have 17 

care where they may not be practicing or providing 18 

care at this point?   19 

  I’d like to conclude by thanking the 20 

committee.  I kept my remarks within seven minutes as 21 

Rick and Lisa had told me, and I have submitted my 22 

document on the record.  It’s the third time now it’s 23 

appearing either in the House Insurance Committee, 24 

House Department of Insurance and on the public 25 
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record.  And hopefully one more time before the Senate 1 

Banking and Insurance Committee, which we have not 2 

been able to move on the bill of retro review, nor 3 

your bill, which should be moved.  Thank you. 4 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 5 

  Thank you.  Questions?   6 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 7 

  Just one. 8 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 9 

  Representative Schroder, ask one 10 

question. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 12 

  Gene, thanks for your testimony.  Just to 13 

sum up, if let's say the three areas of concern you 14 

testified about are resolved never to be of trouble 15 

again to you, is it your position --- the 16 

chiropractors' position then that they either would 17 

support or are not opposed to the merger?  And if 18 

that’s the case, I just want to make sure no concerns 19 

about the issue of market dominance and everything 20 

that we hear so much about. 21 

  MR. VENO: 22 

  I don’t know if you were out on call when 23 

I talked earlier about the debt spiral that occurs. 24 

Sure I’m concerned about that, but as long as I know 25 
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my salary is still paid by the Chiropractic 1 

Association, I’m here for them.  But yes, I’d be 2 

concerned about that, but there may not be much we can 3 

do about it.  The issue though of the economic 4 

imbalance, I think you won’t see that in the first 36 5 

months.  I think probably not until maybe eight years 6 

down the road will you be wrestling again, did we do 7 

the right?  I think that’s why it needs to be taken as 8 

slowly as possible, not quickly as possible because 9 

you're dealing with a lot of subscriber lives and 10 

employee lives, employer groups and premiums. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 12 

  Thanks. 13 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 14 

  Representative McIlvaine-Smith? 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 16 

  I want to make sure I heard you 17 

correctly.  Debt spiral? 18 

  MR. VENO: 19 

  Yes.  That's an economic term as many of 20 

the businesses in commerce will use in terms of this. 21 

It's very simple.  You bring in five different 22 

businesses to one market that has been pretty secure 23 

and stable, and they just come in and cut prices.  As 24 

a result of cutting the prices, everybody tries to 25 
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meet that lowest price.  Well, eventually someone’s 1 

gone and then eventually the next one is gone and then 2 

you're going to end up with a MA Bell type approach or 3 

a Highmark/Independence merger and then try to set the 4 

rates and try to get the provider networks involved. I 5 

think you have a problem.  I've not heard the 6 

economists --- maybe it’s in the 81 points that 7 

Commissioner Ario requested, but as of July I’ve not 8 

seen the letters from the economists who didn’t speak 9 

of that in Pittsburgh.  And I will go back and look.  10 

I was away last week, maybe it's there.  But I think 11 

you should look at it. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 13 

  Thank you. 14 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 15 

  Thank you, Gene.  We appreciate your 16 

appearance today. 17 

  MR. VENO: 18 

  Thanks again.  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 20 

  Next presenter is Jonathon Greer, Vice 21 

President of the Insurance Federation of Pennsylvania. 22 

  MR. GREER: 23 

  Thank you for the opportunity to present 24 

testimony for a second time on the proposed 25 
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Consolidation of Highmark and Independence Blue Cross. 1 

I am Jonathon Greer, Vice President of the Insurance 2 

Federation of Pennsylvania.  We are a non-profit trade 3 

association representing commercial insurers in all 4 

lines of insurance in Pennsylvania.  Our members 5 

include many of the large national health insurers, 6 

some small local health insures.  We represent some 7 

familiar names, Aetna, United, HealthAmerica and CIGNA 8 

to name a few, but none with significant market shares 9 

when compared with the four regional Blues with which 10 

we struggle to compete. 11 

  At the August 25th hearing in Erie, 12 

Insurance Commissioner Joel Ario announced he will 13 

close the public comment period on the proposed 14 

consolidation on September 30th.  That announcement, 15 

which caught us and others by surprise, sets into 16 

motion a framework established in Act 62 of 2008 for 17 

the House Insurance Committee and the Senate Banking 18 

and Insurance Committee to submit recommendations to 19 

the Insurance Department on this proposed 20 

consolidation.  Because this 45-day process begins 21 

when the public comment period ends, this committee's 22 

formal involvement in the Insurance Department’s 23 

review of the consolidation application is imminent. 24 

  Given the massive dimensions of this 25 
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proposed consolidation, it will determine the way 1 

healthcare is insured, financed and delivered 2 

throughout this Commonwealth for the next generation 3 

as much or more than any of the legislation you are 4 

dealing with now.  That emphasizes why your 5 

involvement is so important and why we urge the 6 

committee to fully engage in the review of this 7 

consolidation.  We understand these hearings are a 8 

part of doing that, and we ask you to consider the 9 

following thoughts as you prepare your own comments. 10 

  It should be clear from the outset that 11 

this proposed consolidation does not represent a 12 

popularity contest as to whether Highmark and IBC are 13 

good or bad companies or whether the consolidation 14 

itself is good or bad.  Rather, the statutory standard 15 

on which the consolidation is to be measured is 16 

whether the proposed consolidation lessens 17 

competition.  And if so, whether it nonetheless will 18 

make health insurance more available and produces  19 

significantly unique benefits that would otherwise not 20 

occur.   21 

  I have some significant controls as a 22 

condition of the approval.  We believe this proposed 23 

consolidation will have a lasting negative impact on 24 

the ability of other insurers, both those already here 25 
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and those who come here to compete with this new 1 

giant.  We do not believe consumers of any kind, 2 

health insurance or otherwise are well served by 3 

limited choices and private monopolies. 4 

  We also don’t believe that the proposed 5 

consolidation produces unique benefits in savings that 6 

justify this loss of competition.  Highmark and IBC 7 

talk about one billion dollars in savings over the 8 

next six years.  That’s a catchy number, maybe that’s 9 

how it was arrived at.  But when you look at it, it is 10 

vague, temporary and unenforceable.  And while we 11 

understand some of the information before the 12 

Insurance Department has been deemed confidential and 13 

is therefore not available to the public, that which 14 

is available to the Department’s website only serves 15 

to heighten our concerns here.   16 

  For example, Highmark and IBC maintain 17 

that by combining forces they will achieve 18 

approximately $285 million in scale based pharmacy  19 

services.  Testimony provided during a United States 20 

Senate subcommittee hearing held earlier this summer 21 

on the proposed consolidation, an expert in this area 22 

argued projected savings of this magnitude are 23 

unfounded.  Pharmaceutical manufacturers, much like 24 

healthcare provides, get discounts based on the 25 
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significance of the payer in a given geographic 1 

market.  Simply combining the purchases of two 2 

geographically separate companies will not necessarily 3 

lead to greater discounts. 4 

  Further, if combining the purchasing 5 

power of these companies actually did achieve this 6 

level of savings, what's stopping them from entering 7 

into a group purchasing arrangement right now?  We 8 

believe the individual company should already be large 9 

enough to achieve these kinds of savings, and we fail 10 

to see how a company the size and scale of 11 

consolidated Highmark and IBC will induce new 12 

efficiencies that are presently unattainable.   13 

  In preparation of submitting your 14 

recommendations to the Insurance Department, we 15 

encourage you to see yourself the supporting 16 

documentation available on the Department’s website 17 

regarding these purported statements.  Given that much 18 

of the argument in favor of the consolidation hinges 19 

on these achieved, quote, savings, we believe this 20 

information should be subject to public scrutiny in 21 

order to determine whether or not they are qualifiable 22 

and solely unique to consolidation.  Based upon what 23 

we’ve seen not at all true.   24 

  Our experience in the world of insurance 25 
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is that market competition is the best motivator when 1 

it comes to eliminating redundancies and creating 2 

efficiencies.  We say that because we know it has 3 

worked in other areas.  The most prominent example 4 

being Pennsylvania’s auto insurance market.  In this 5 

regard, Highmark and IBC say the proposed 6 

consolidation won’t have any competitive impact since 7 

they don’t compete with each other now.  If nothing 8 

else, the consolidation forever eliminates the 9 

potential for them to compete with each other.   10 

  That loss of competition is bad for 11 

consumers.  We've seen that Blue-on-Blue competition 12 

works just as competition among insurers generally 13 

works in the central part of Pennsylvania.  Highmark 14 

and Capital Blue Cross competed for years and both 15 

companies have said it made them better.  And remember 16 

the only reason Highmark and IBC do not compete now is 17 

because in 1996 they entered into a ten-year pact not 18 

to compete.  If these companies wanted to, they could 19 

be competing against each other today just as insurers 20 

in all lines of insurance compete.  Imagine if other 21 

large insurers started entering into those agreements.  22 

  Highmark and IBC also say they have no 23 

intention of expanding into each others markets.  24 

Highmark says it’s too hard to compete against IBC in 25 
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the southeast, and IBC says competing against Highmark 1 

would ruin a beautiful friendship.  Given that they 2 

already enjoy veritable monopoly status in their own 3 

regions and they do not, at least at this time, intend 4 

to expand outside of them, the consolidation will 5 

enable them to crush or discourage any competitive 6 

forces.  This won’t be because they'll be better than 7 

other companies, but because they will solidify their 8 

status as the only real game in their towns. 9 

Especially in negotiating with providers, which is the 10 

biggest key to being competitive in health insurance.  11 

  If this happens, if you allow it to 12 

happen, it will undermine the ability of other 13 

insurers to invest the time and capital it takes to be 14 

viable competitors.  However hard it is for Highmark 15 

to envision entering the southeastern Pennsylvania 16 

market, imagine how difficult it is now and how much 17 

more difficult it will become for insurers of a 18 

limited presence in the state to stay here or for new 19 

insurers to come.   20 

  Given that Highmark now owns a 21 

significant portion of Blue Cross and northeastern's 22 

HMO affiliate, we also wonder what will happen to that 23 

market.  If this consolidation is approved without 24 

significant controls and our concerns of stifled 25 
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competition are realized, the potential exists for 1 

there to be a single Blue company that dominates the 2 

state.  The prospect of one company controlling the 3 

vast majority of the Pennsylvania’s commercial insured 4 

market is not in the best interest of the consumers. 5 

  We haven’t seen much in the way of 6 

reforms that have encouraged competition in the health 7 

insurance market, and I think that’s one of the main 8 

reasons we haven’t seen anywhere near the progress 9 

consumers need and desire.  Some reforms have helped 10 

stem the tide of medical inflation.  Consumer driven 11 

alternatives like health savings accounts come to 12 

mind, though by and large help insurance consumers 13 

continue to struggle with rising premiums.   14 

  We admit competition alone isn’t the 15 

answer to all the Commonwealth's health insurance 16 

problems, but any objective analysis has to include 17 

that a vibrant competitive marketplace that induces 18 

innovation, consumer responsiveness and true 19 

efficiency is good for consumers. 20 

  Any market that becomes a private 21 

monopoly is in danger of becoming a hostage to that 22 

monopoly no matter how extensive or well intentioned 23 

the regulatory oversight.  It's not just that 24 

competition gets stifled and with it the pressure to 25 
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do better, it's that consumers are harmed by the 1 

absence of the checks and balances and safety valves 2 

that come from a competitive market.  That doesn’t 3 

mean consolidations, even one of this magnitude are 4 

inherently flawed.  It does mean that consolidation 5 

such as this one have to be scrutinized and only 6 

approved if they come with conditions that ensure the 7 

chance for other carriers to thrive and new ideas to 8 

emerge.   9 

  That’s what we recommended to the 10 

Insurance Department and what we hope is the final 11 

outcome.  Thank you again for the opportunity to be 12 

here.  I’m happy to answer any questions.  I should 13 

also add that attached to our testimony are our 14 

submissions to the Department to date.   15 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 16 

  Thank you, Jonathon.  Representative 17 

Boyd? 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 19 

  Jonathon, thanks very much for the 20 

testimony.  Of the companies that you represent, you 21 

named a few, I believe, in the early part of your 22 

testimony and a number of others.  Are any of them 23 

currently threatening to exit Pennsylvania if, in 24 

fact, the merger is approved? 25 
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  MR. GREER: 1 

  Are they threatening to leave if the ---? 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 3 

  Get out of the market. 4 

  MR. GREER: 5 

  They have not gone to that point yet 6 

partly because the consolidation is still an 7 

application.  It has not been formalized.  So it’s 8 

hard for them to say, well, okay because of 9 

consolidation is pending, we're going to a business 10 

decision on a pending application.  No, they have not 11 

done that yet.  What we have said, though, is that the 12 

marketplace absent conditions will be so stifling that 13 

it will be difficult for them to stay here. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 15 

  Thank you. 16 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 17 

  Representative Killion? 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 19 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  You mentioned 20 

at the end here that you recommend to the Insurance 21 

Department that there be conditions that ensure the 22 

chance for other carriers to thrive and new ideas to 23 

emerge.  What conditions do you see as part of this 24 

merger that will allow that? 25 
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  MR. GREER: 1 

  Well, some of the --- for example’s sake, 2 

one of the conditions that we have suggested to the 3 

Department as a condition of merger, that there be no 4 

non-compete agreements like the ten-year pact between 5 

Highmark and IBC.  I think the fact that they’ve been 6 

able to do that, that they did not compete for ten 7 

years, and then at the end when that expired then all 8 

of a sudden they made the decision that they wanted to 9 

consolidate.  We think that that’s anti-competitive. 10 

That would be one. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 12 

  Let me just jump in.  I was under the 13 

impression that that was a --- the branding thing, 14 

that that non-compete comes out of their national 15 

charter and how they're organized within each of the 16 

states that they can compete, but they can’t compete 17 

using the Blue brand? 18 

  MR. GREER: 19 

  Right.  In all honestly, it’s probably 20 

better as to the Blues than it to me but what they 21 

have said in the past, and I’m paraphrasing, is that 22 

the Blue Cross/Blue Shield Association of America 23 

controls the brand and that the Association divides 24 

the savings into service territories basically.  And 25 
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that the brand that the --- because the brand is owned 1 

by them, that they can’t compete against each other 2 

with brand on brand competition.  Of course you have 3 

one example of that in Harrisburg in the capitol 4 

region where that does happen.  But it begs the 5 

question then why did you need the non-compete pact?  6 

Why did you have to enter into a non-compete pact if 7 

you weren’t going to be allowed to compete anyway?  8 

Which suggests that they had asked to it, one of them 9 

had asked to do it, they wouldn't have been allowed 10 

to.  But we don’t know that, but that’s ---. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 12 

  Okay.  That's a question for ---. 13 

  MR. GREER: 14 

  We don’t know the answer to that.  That’s 15 

a question for the Blues.  But if the brand 16 

requirements wouldn’t allow them to compete now, why 17 

would they need to enter into that pact?   I don’t 18 

know the answer to that question. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 20 

  Thank you. 21 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 22 

  Representative Schroder? 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER:  24 

  Thank you.  I think my question goes to 25 
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one of the points Representative Killion was making. 1 

And in your testimony you pointed out that, if nothing 2 

else, the consolidation forever eliminates the 3 

potential for them to compete against each other.  And 4 

then you say that the loss of potential competition is 5 

bad for consumers.   6 

  I guess my question is, well, what was 7 

the potential for them to actually compete against for 8 

each other?  I mean, was there really any serious 9 

potential of this in the future anyway?  Regardless of 10 

whether it’s the result of a non-competitive pact or 11 

something with the condition of the branding of the  12 

Blues, whichever it might be. 13 

  MR. GREER: 14 

  Well, again, that’s probably a question 15 

directed better at the Blues than it is me, but I will 16 

answer in this extent.  Only in health insurance in 17 

Pennsylvania is the state allowed to be divided into 18 

service areas by an insurance company.  For example, 19 

State Farm, which is the largest private passenger 20 

auto insurer in the state, they compete statewide 21 

against Erie which competes statewide, against 22 

Nationwide which competes statewide.  Every other line 23 

of insurance whether it be auto insurance, homeowner's 24 

insurance, life insurance, you name it, nowhere else 25 
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is the state divided into services areas.  And what we 1 

have said is that Blue-on-Blue competition in the one 2 

example that we have which is in the Harrisburg area 3 

has proven itself to be a good thing.  And that we 4 

think they should be able to compete against each 5 

other and that if they really wanted to they could. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 7 

  I understand your point, you know, about 8 

the auto insurance situation.  You know I guess I was 9 

just wondering and thinking about your testimony, you 10 

know, whether there really was a possibility of 11 

potential competition in the future or whether it's, 12 

you know, just sort of something that --- a wish that 13 

might not come true anyway regardless of whether the 14 

merger goes through or not.  All right.  Thank you, 15 

Mr. Greer. 16 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 17 

  Representative Shapiro? 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 19 

  Jonathon, thanks for your testimony and I 20 

wanted to just probe two general comments that you 21 

made.  First on page six where you talk about Highmark 22 

and IBC saying they're not going to expand in each 23 

other's market place, you called them today a 24 

veritable --- they have veritable monopoly status, 25 
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acknowledge that they intend not to expand outside of 1 

them and essentially suggesting that in the first part 2 

of that paragraph and part of your other testimony 3 

that they're going to stay put where they are.  In 4 

fact, you said earlier in your testimony that even in 5 

staying put, you don’t even acknowledge that they're 6 

going to ---.  I’m not being critical of you for this, 7 

but you don’t even acknowledge that there’s going to 8 

be savings as a result of the merger.  And then you go 9 

on to say on page six that they're going to solidify 10 

their status as the only real game in their towns.  11 

Even though you've suggested a few sentences earlier 12 

that they're not going to move into other towns or put 13 

themselves in a position to be stronger in their own 14 

region because they're not doing --- there's sort of 15 

cross pollinization that that some might suggest they 16 

were going to do. 17 

  It seems to me that there’s a couple 18 

different statements that you're making.  They're not 19 

going to save really any money, and I’m not suggesting 20 

that they will.  I’m just trying to get a little more 21 

from you on that.  And that they're not going to cross 22 

pollinate, they're not going to go into each other's 23 

regions, yet they're going to get even stronger.  I’m 24 

just not quite sure I understand how you reach those 25 
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conclusions.  Perhaps you can offer a little more 1 

background in terms of how you reached those two 2 

conclusions. 3 

  MR. GREER: 4 

  Well, sure.  First, I would say that 5 

their respective regions are highly concentrated now. 6 

I think that any standard in which you would measure 7 

that is that they are overwhelming the dominate player 8 

in their respective regions.  We don’t think that the 9 

purported savings that they're talking about achieving 10 

from what we can gather are quantifiable.  11 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 12 

  I presume your documentation bares that 13 

out? 14 

  MR. GREER: 15 

  We can only base it on what's available 16 

on the Department's website, and I actually have a 17 

copy.  I’d be happy to share with you what’s out 18 

there.  Some of it is redacted I’m sure, but from what 19 

we gather, it’s not very well substantiated.  What we 20 

believe is they're trying to --- and remember, too, 21 

the competitive standard is whether or not this will 22 

lessen or have any adverse affect on the competition. 23 

We believe that what they're trying to do is they're 24 

trying to further their dominance in their respective 25 
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areas.  And then eventually because as I said also 1 

that Highmark already owns 40 percent of the Blue 2 

Cross from the eastern's HMO affiliate, that they will 3 

eventually take over that area.  And then eventually 4 

encircle Capital Blue Cross in the central part of the 5 

state and we’ll have one statewide Blue. 6 

  They will do that not to achieve savings 7 

but by basically combining their financial standing in 8 

their respective regions to help each other out in 9 

terms of crushing competition in the western part of 10 

the state and the southeastern part of the state. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 12 

  So your statement is that Blue Cross 13 

stays where it is and Highmark stays where it is, they 14 

don’t achieve any savings as a result of the merger, 15 

yet because of this new found marriage, which again 16 

hasn't achieved according to you any new money or any 17 

new available capital.  They're going to then use that 18 

essentially independent status that they have in the 19 

southeast and the southwest to go out and target the 20 

other regions.   21 

  MR. GREER: 22 

  Well, they've said themselves that they 23 

don’t intent for now to move out of there respective 24 

regions?   25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 1 

  Right.   2 

  MR. GREER: 3 

  Which we would first say, well, then why 4 

are you merging?  I don’t know.  I mean, I don’t know 5 

the answer to that question.  But to me you have to 6 

conclude that it's for some reason, and that’s 7 

probably --- and they themselves have said in their 8 

submissions that they have difficulty in competing 9 

with the commercial for-profit insurers, which are the 10 

companies that we represent.  11 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 12 

  Sure.   13 

  MR. GREER: 14 

  Now, we would say we’d love to have those 15 

tables flipped and for us to be the big guys and for 16 

you guys to be the little guys.  But if they're not 17 

doing it for any other reason other than to become 18 

more competitive, in their own terms, why are they 19 

doing it?  I don’t know the answer to that question 20 

other than we think to step on competition. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 22 

  I understand what you’re saying.  I’m 23 

just not quite sure how you go and stifle competition 24 

when you’re not saving money and having a chunk of 25 
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money to use to stifle competition --- 1 

  MR. GREER: 2 

  Remember there's a difference between 3 

achieved savings ---. 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 5 

  --- your networks that you're currently 6 

in. 7 

  MR. GREER: 8 

  There’s a difference between achieved 9 

savings and combined resources, and I think that's 10 

maybe the distinction that’s worth noting.  And that’s 11 

what we’re questioning. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 13 

  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 14 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 15 

  Thank you, Jonathon.  We appreciate your 16 

testimony today.  Our next presenter is Richard 17 

Dreyfuss, business consultant and actuary. 18 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 19 

  Good afternoon.  My name is Rick 20 

Dreyfuss, and I’m here today as a private citizen.  21 

I’m a self-employed business consultant and actuary.  22 

The testimony I provided you is that which is already 23 

on the public record, and I testified before the 24 

Commissioner in July, July 10th, in Harrisburg.  So 25 
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what I’d like to do is just present an extract of my 1 

testimony.  And you have the full unabridged version 2 

for your use and any questions that may come up.   3 

  By way of introduction again, my name is 4 

Rick Dreyfuss and my testimony today reflects 21 years 5 

career at Hershey Foods as the executive responsible 6 

for employee benefits.  I was also former chairman of 7 

the Pennsylvania Healthcare Cost Containment Council, 8 

and I was instrumental in establishing the council in 9 

1986.  For the past five years since retiring from 10 

Hershey, I’ve been a self employed business consultant 11 

and actuary as well as a senior fellow for the 12 

Commonwealth Foundation, a Public Policy Organization 13 

located in Harrisburg.  Again, I’m here today as a 14 

private citizen.   15 

  For the past 25 years, I've a positive in 16 

depth relationship with many Pennsylvania insurers 17 

including Capital Blue Cross, Pennsylvania Blue Shield 18 

now Highmark.  For many years, I’ve been a corporate 19 

member of Highmark, and I’ve served on various 20 

standing and ad hoc committees within this 21 

organization.  I’ve also had a favorable relationship 22 

with Highmark's various for-profit subsidiaries, in 23 

particular their dental subsidiary United Concordia. 24 

  Being a corporate member of Highmark and 25 
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having a basic working knowledge of their business 1 

operation, I strongly support their goal of becoming a 2 

growing and prosperous enterprise.  And further I know 3 

and respect many individuals within Highmark.   4 

  With this same enthusiasm to see Highmark 5 

grow and merge, I believe Highmark is at a crossroad 6 

where it is trying to satisfy too many conflicting 7 

objectives to the satisfaction of too many 8 

constituencies.  It is an entity which the state does 9 

not know how to effectively regulate and therefore it 10 

is no surprise that the Pennsylvania Blue plans, in 11 

particular Highmark, are a set of politically 12 

encumbered overregulated entities.  This phenomenon 13 

can be evidence as recently as 2004 hearings leading 14 

to the Community Health Reinvestment Agreement 15 

interwoven with the issues of then pending rate 16 

increases and the general question of defining excess 17 

reserves levels.  Not surprisingly, all three issues 18 

were resolved at approximately the same time with a 19 

commitment by the Blues to increase premiums to the 20 

state under the CHRA which is now scheduled to expire 21 

in the year 2010. 22 

  Given this as a background, it is no 23 

surprise that the prominent feature of the 24 

Highmark/IBC proposed merger agreement announcement 25 
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highlighted the intent to extend the CHRA until 2013 1 

in a clear attempt to placate policymakers and 2 

regulators ultimately responsible for approving this 3 

transaction.   4 

  Highmark maintains a unique definition of 5 

fair competition and insurance reform which plays to 6 

their special not-for-profit status.  The realities of 7 

2008 suggested it's time to acknowledge that Highmark 8 

needs a new business model with new accountabilities. 9 

The last thing needed now is a merger.  Why would the 10 

state approve a merger of two amorphous entities with 11 

a business case which is anything but compelling?  Let 12 

me elaborate further.  The single and only remedy to 13 

these conflicting objectives and cumbersome 14 

regulations is to require all not-profit insurers 15 

doing business in Pennsylvania to convert to  16 

for-profit status.  Such a change would result in a 17 

fair and truly level playing field.  Doing so would 18 

help Highmark focus on its shareholders as well as its 19 

customers.   20 

  Highmark's current owners are effectively 21 

a myriad of regulators and policymakers with a 22 

singular focus on extracting higher amounts of capital 23 

from Highmark in new and creative ways in the name of 24 

a social mission.  As a result, Highmark is 25 
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overregulated and consequently has evolved into a  1 

sub-optimal organization.  If the Blue's social 2 

mission has been so effective, why does healthcare 3 

insurance remain so problematic here in Pennsylvania 4 

as in other states?   5 

  What profit status will ensure the 6 

efficient use of capital, the incentive to innovate, 7 

an intense customer focus, a level playing field, 8 

clear lines of accountability and reduce government 9 

involvement in their business?  To approve this 10 

proposed merger will send a resounding message that 11 

government regulations and the accompanying CHRA 12 

subsidy payments prompts the goals of a competitive 13 

marketplace for all.   14 

  The current relationship between state 15 

government and Highmark can best be described as 16 

symbiotic.  Highmark enjoys its not-for-profit status 17 

in exchange for significant payments to the state to 18 

subsidized payments such as adultBasic.  As we are 19 

witnessing, insurance subsidies, while giving the 20 

illusion of making premium costs affordable to some, 21 

actually create higher overall costs thereby inducing 22 

even higher subsidies.  Such total costs are rapidly 23 

approaching unaffordable levels in adultBasic.  The 24 

realities are the collective Blues cannot sustain such 25 
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an expensive system, and by definition neither can 1 

their customers. 2 

  Moreover the Blue's silence and the 3 

statewide healthcare reform debate is deafening.  4 

Highmark can not effectively advocate on principles 5 

compared to the commercial carriers, as to take sides 6 

could jeopardize the merger or make the terms more 7 

expensive.  Such pragmatism, other than resorting to 8 

platitudes such as this is a discussion we need to 9 

have in Pennsylvania, or we commend the desire of many 10 

to fix a broken system, is further evidence of their 11 

dilemma.  The merger of these two entities will ensure 12 

the system stays broken.   13 

  The not so profound reality is being for-14 

profit and having a social mission are not mutually 15 

exclusive strategies.  As I can easily reference my 16 

former employer at Hershey Foods or countless other 17 

for-profit entities doing business here in 18 

Pennsylvania.  Ask the commercial carriers to describe 19 

their social mission in terms of the taxes they pay, 20 

the voluntary charitable initiatives and you will 21 

quickly witness impressive social mission.   22 

  To this end, Highmark uses the pejorative 23 

term cherry-picking as a means to denigrate commercial 24 

carriers.  Ironically, they chastise the commercial 25 
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carriers who, one, make a business out of ensuring all 1 

risks through sound rating practices in recognition of 2 

their diverse book of business, or in Highmark's 3 

vernacular ensuring the whole tree.  Whenever I hear 4 

these words cherry-picking, it reinforces to me a mind 5 

set of an entity not ready to compete. 6 

  Highmark's remedy is to further regulate 7 

the commercial carriers rather then improving their 8 

competitive effectiveness and ensuring forests.  The 9 

prospects of a merged company espousing such an 10 

operating mindset should be concerning to all.  11 

  Conversely on the governments side, there 12 

is never an absence of new regulations and new ideas 13 

to further constrain the entrepreneurial spirit of 14 

insurers and their desire to build capital for the 15 

long-term growth.  However, progress towards these 16 

goals is often criticized under the mantra of greedy 17 

insurers, excess reserves and overpaid executives.   18 

  So it is against this backdrop that you, 19 

the legislatures, much decide whether to effectively 20 

make state government larger and ensure higher 21 

subsidies will continue.  Moreover and not 22 

surprisingly Highmark and IBC now proclaim how many 23 

individuals are unemployed as if having a suboptimal 24 

organization with the possibility of three 25 
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headquarters is something to be applauded in the name 1 

of economic development.  Such a strategy is a direct 2 

application of Keynesian economics all presumably for 3 

the public good.   4 

  Is such a strategy really any different 5 

then if one were to consider the number of new jobs 6 

created by the enactment of a new insurance mandate?  7 

Moreover, the concept of the proposed regional boards 8 

reporting to a corporate board only reinforces such  9 

bureaucratic concepts. 10 

  Highmark needs to be accountable to 11 

stockholders seeking a return on their investment with 12 

a priority given to an intense customer focus, being 13 

accountable to politicians in a group of approximately 14 

100 named individuals, not equity individuals I should 15 

add, like myself, represents poor governance.  Such a 16 

governance model is an anachronism.   17 

  The business case merger is not 18 

compelling, and that’s because should the merger 19 

proposal be too aggressive, this will trouble 20 

legislatures in whose district non-value added jobs 21 

are to be streamlined or eliminated.  However, if it’s 22 

not aggressive enough, which is where I think we are 23 

now, with the exception of the proposed payments to 24 

state government, then why merge?  It is evident both 25 
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Highmark and IBC tried to carefully triangulate all 1 

this with policymakers and various interest groups.   2 

  In short, the business case is not 3 

compelling.  The social mission is amorphous, and the 4 

operations represent a quasi-government entity.  Given 5 

this, why would you allow these two companies to form 6 

a statewide organization?  As a supplement to my 7 

testimony in which I can surely elaborate, I include a 8 

letter to Mr. Bob Baum who was chairman of Highmark in 9 

April of 2007 which is released with his permission.   10 

  To approve this merger will be the 11 

triumph of politics over the public good.  Such a 12 

regulatory act would surely further break the system. 13 

I remain concerned of this outcome and the entire 14 

process as the potential incremental payments to state 15 

government are far too tempting.   16 

  Let me finish by saying my motivation is 17 

simply to create a truly level playing field with 18 

significant competition and intense focus on the 19 

insurers providing cost effective products to their 20 

customers.  In short, Highmark needs to focus on its 21 

customers, investors, employees and compete with other 22 

viable competitors.  I believe Highmark and other  23 

not-for-profits could be even better companies were 24 

they given an opportunity to do so.   25 
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  And I would finally add that in the 1 

Allentown Morning Call on August 31 there was a quote 2 

that I wanted to bring to your attention.  And it was 3 

from Mr. David Bolto an antitrust attorney and a 4 

senior fellow of the left-leaning Center for American 5 

Progress who says history has shown that government 6 

regulations cannot replace competition.  Thank you. 7 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 8 

  Thank you very much.  Questions? 9 

Representative Pashinski. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 11 

  Thank you very much for your testimony.  12 

You indicated --- I'm trying to find it here.  Oh, 13 

greedy insurers, excessive reserves and overpaid 14 

executives.  First of all, do you feel as though that 15 

we've had competition in this country relative to 16 

healthcare and healthcare insurance? 17 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 18 

  Not the kind of competition we need.  19 

We’ve had some, but I think ---. 20 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 21 

  Are we talking about just Pennsylvania or 22 

throughout the country? 23 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 24 

  Well, I would say both.  I think it 25 
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varies by state.  But when you look at the number of 1 

regulatory encumbrances, my word, or the regulations, 2 

the number of mandate that insurance companies, the 3 

capital requirements, the barriers to entry, I think 4 

that precludes good and vibrant competition which I 5 

think would benefit consumers. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 7 

  Would you agree that government is simply 8 

trying to balance the scales and correct some things 9 

that may be incorrect or inadequate? 10 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 11 

  I think that’s certainly the intention of 12 

the government, but I don’t think it is satisfying a 13 

great public good in what they're doing. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI:          15 

        So if it was in your ability, you would 16 

change these regulations to allow just strictly for an 17 

open and competitive --- okay.  So let’s take that and 18 

let’s take Pennsylvania.  If for example all the 19 

countries in the United States were allowed to compete 20 

in Pennsylvania on an equal basis, would you feel then 21 

that the cost of insuring health premiums would be 22 

lower? 23 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 24 

         I think that would help, but I think 25 
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you've got to look at the mandates, the way insurance 1 

in underwritten.  I mean, it’s not just --- it’s a 2 

multi-dimensional issue, but certainly having more  3 

competitors would certainly help consumers just as a 4 

general premise. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 6 

  Could you explain to me how like, for 7 

example, Aetna or CIGNA or some of the other companies 8 

that Jonathon represents, how can they make themselves 9 

more competitive under these conditions? 10 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 11 

  Under ---? 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 13 

  Under the present conditions that we have 14 

now. 15 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 16 

  Well, I think first of all, they're 17 

pretty competitive as we speak.  But one point that I 18 

would raise is when you look at the number of mandates 19 

that are imbedded in their product and the desire to 20 

have more of the uninsured covered, people --- take my 21 

son as an example who's 23.  He was trying to look at 22 

health insurance.  He has to pay a community rate and 23 

with all these mandates, that’s really more product 24 

than he really needs.  So the nature of the companies 25 
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who provide insurance is one dimension, but certainly 1 

the underwriting and other regulations all play into 2 

the products that we buy. 3 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 4 

  What I’m trying to get at is if you have 5 

a template to show government how opening up the field 6 

would reduce premiums, I'd be very much interested,  7 

but it didn't seem as though the premiums would change 8 

all that much. 9 

  MR. DREYFUSS:    10 

  Oh, I think they would.  And then it's 11 

beyond the scope of this hearing, but then you get 12 

into cost shifting that many government programs who 13 

don’t pay the insurers the right amount or they under 14 

reimburse them and that ends up being shifted to 15 

others who have insurance in terms of their policies. 16 

Medicaid is a very good example of that. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 18 

  Thank you. 19 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 20 

  Thank you. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 22 

  Could you tell me what an overpaid 23 

executive is? 24 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 25 
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  Well, that’s a term of art used by 1 

others, but I would say someone who's paid above the 2 

market rate. 3 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 4 

  I have no idea what that market rate is. 5 

That’s what I was trying to get kind an idea of.   6 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 7 

  Or excess reserves is another.  8 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 9 

  Well, it's the same thing with the excess 10 

reserves, if you put all that money together, the 11 

United States might be out of debt.  Maybe we should 12 

ask them for a loan.  Can we ask the insurance 13 

companies for a loan? 14 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 15 

  A lot of those returns go to insurers 16 

that are in state pension funds, for example, invest 17 

in these same insurance companies and get those 18 

returns.  So the other end of that insurance profit is 19 

an investor looking for a return.  You and I who have 20 

a 401K would probably be the same example. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 22 

  I would love to spend some time with you 23 

privately on your template for making some 24 

improvements.  I thank you very much. 25 
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  MR. DREYFUSS: 1 

  Thank you. 2 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 3 

  Any other questions?  Thank you, sir, for 4 

you testimony. 5 

  MR. DREYFUSS: 6 

  Thank you. 7 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 8 

  Chair recognizes Mr. Speese. 9 

  MR. SPEESE: 10 

  I just wanted the committee members to 11 

know that I have spoken to the chairman about the 12 

committee's response in wanting to do a formal comment 13 

from the committee.  And secondly, we are going to be 14 

having a voting meeting on September 17 on other 15 

issues.  But at that time, maybe we can discuss what 16 

we want to do.  I think Tony would definitely like to 17 

talk about it.  18 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 19 

  The chair recognizes our next presenter, 20 

Paula Bussard.  Did I say that right? 21 

  MS. BUSSARD: 22 

  Yes, you did. 23 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 24 

  So you're vice president of policy for 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

84

the Hospital Association. 1 

  MS. BUSSARD: 2 

  Thank you Representative Buxton and 3 

members of the committee.  I am Paula Bussard the 4 

senior vice president for policy and regulatory 5 

services with the Hospital and Health System 6 

Association of Pennsylvania known as HAP.  And as you 7 

know, HAP represents and advocates for more than 250 8 

acute and specialty care hospitals and health systems 9 

as well as the patients they serve.  And I appreciate 10 

the opportunity today to present the hospital 11 

community's views on the proposed merger of Highmark 12 

and Independence Blue Cross.   13 

  I'd first like to begin by commending 14 

this committee for its leadership role in the passage 15 

of Act 62 of 2008 and recognize that your committee 16 

has a very important role in the oversight process, 17 

and we appreciate the due diligence that your 18 

committee has underway.   19 

  Through our public policy development 20 

process, HAP has evaluated the information provided by 21 

the two plans to the Pennsylvania Insurance 22 

Department, other information publicly available about 23 

health insurance markets and practices, and we've 24 

carefully considered the hospital community position 25 
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based on review and discussion of all of that 1 

information and thorough input from our membership. 2 

  The hospital community opposes this 3 

merger as proposed.  We believe that the current 4 

health insurance marketplace in Pennsylvania is 5 

already skewed towards these two plan's advantage and 6 

that the merger of these two plans will create an 7 

overwhelming presence or footprint across the 8 

Commonwealth.   9 

  Should government approval be granted, we 10 

would call for strong conditions and parameters to 11 

address market competition, fair and appropriate 12 

contracting practices and continued community and 13 

social obligations.  In addition, we believe that any 14 

such approval must call for ongoing accountability to 15 

ensure that any such conditions and parameters are 16 

met. 17 

  My written testimony provides a 18 

perspective on the health insurance market and then 19 

briefly outlines the four areas, and I only just want 20 

to highlight some key points from my testimony.  We 21 

looked at a variety of data from public sources, and 22 

we’d note that the majority of enrollment in 23 

commercial health insurance, Medicare manage care and 24 

Medicaid managed care in the Commonwealth is in the 25 
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state's two largest Blue Cross plans.  If these two 1 

plans merge, their combined market share will be 2 

approximately 65 percent.  Thus we believe this will 3 

create the largest private health insurer in 4 

Pennsylvania, but also have as significant impact on 5 

Medicaid and Medicare managed care. 6 

  With market competition, we agree with 7 

several previous speakers that competition is 8 

important not only in achieving competitive premiums 9 

for employers or individuals who purchase health 10 

insurance but also competitive payments for healthcare 11 

providers.  As we see it, the resulting market power 12 

of the merged plan could drive provider reimbursement 13 

levels below competitive levels needed to sustain the 14 

provision of quality healthcare to the citizens of the 15 

Commonwealth unless certain protections and parameters 16 

are established.   17 

  I would note that attached to my 18 

testimony is financial data, financial analyses that 19 

we’ve prepared from data submitted by hospitals to the 20 

Pennsylvania Healthcare Cost Containment Council.  And 21 

we would note that part of the state that’s south 22 

central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley area that 23 

have the most robust health insurance competition, we 24 

see that for hospitals they have the most stable 25 
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financing over time. 1 

  A key policy question that hospitals have 2 

regarding this proposed merger that we think state 3 

government needs to consider is just how much of a 4 

healthcare provider's revenue should be controlled by 5 

one plan, whether this is a hospital or physician 6 

practices or other facilities?  We do not believe this 7 

policy question has yet been adequately addressed in 8 

the various responses and submission by the plan.   9 

  There has been a lot of discussion about 10 

monopoly.  We would also raise that this merger 11 

creates the potential for a monopoly power in the 12 

market for the purchase of healthcare services and 13 

particularly for hospital and physician services.  We 14 

ask that given the new market --- the new plans, 15 

market share would providers really have the ability 16 

to terminate or even credibly to threaten termination 17 

of their contract.  Typically when you analyze that 18 

question, you look at the provider’s ability to 19 

replace the potential business or revenue that would 20 

be lost and the reality when the majority of your 21 

revenues are coming from this merger plan, it would be 22 

very difficult or impossible.   23 

  Again as I said, we believe this concern 24 

about purchasing power has not been thoroughly 25 
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analyzed and evaluated.  We would suggest that it is 1 

really the center of the concerns that we have and 2 

really impacts on provider contracting.  Ideally 3 

hospitals and health systems as well as groups of 4 

individual practitioners seek to negotiate contracts 5 

with health insures.  These contracts address payment, 6 

credentialing, quality, incentives, other kinds of 7 

requirements. 8 

  We believe that it is possible for a 9 

dominant plan without strong and clear parameters to 10 

deploy a take-it-or-leave-it approach leaving little 11 

opportunity for meaningful negotiations.  And given 12 

that market power that I have discussed, it will be 13 

virtually impossible for providers to walk away.  14 

Therefore, we do believe should government approve 15 

this merger, there needs to be appropriate parameters, 16 

a checks and balances which is what we look to 17 

government to do.   18 

  And we’ve outlined in the testimony a 19 

number of areas related to contracting.  We believe 20 

that there should be prohibition of use of 21 

unilaterally imposed contract terms such as most 22 

favored nation, clauses or any derivative of that kind 23 

of concept.  Also prohibitions against contracts that 24 

require acceptance of all product lines sold by the 25 
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merged plan.  And that would include both the public 1 

and private sector product lines. 2 

  We would also like to see the allowance 3 

for a provider initiated binding mandatory independent 4 

alternative dispute resolution process or an 5 

arbitration type of process so that when there are 6 

serious contract disputes there is an alternative 7 

approach to looking at the resolution of the issues, 8 

and that criteria that would be used would include 9 

confidential review by the third party of data 10 

regarding payments to comparable providers and 11 

evaluation of other key financial indicators.   12 

  We also have been speaking to the federal 13 

government, the Department of Justice and the Federal 14 

Trade Commission about enabling clinically and 15 

financially integrated organizations to negotiate as a 16 

unit with the merged plan.  We do not see this as 17 

collective bargaining because we do believe that the 18 

federal authorities are able to define integration 19 

that would allow for joint negotiations.   20 

  Also important to the hospitals in 21 

Pennsylvania is the maintenance of the social and 22 

community mission of these two plans.  Pennsylvania’s 23 

hospital plan and professional health service plan 24 

corporations were created by statutes in the late 25 
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1930s for the purposes of enabling all Pennsylvanians 1 

to have access to hospital services and physician and 2 

other services.  Hospital plan corporations otherwise 3 

known as Blue Cross plans are statutorily mandated to 4 

be benevolent and charitable and the professional 5 

health service plan corporation, the Blue Shield plan 6 

is statutorily mandated to have a social mission.  We 7 

believe that the fulfillment of these missions is as 8 

important today to Pennsylvanians as it was in the 9 

1930s.  And therefore, we would like to see any 10 

government approval of this merger clearly specify the 11 

continuation of these obligations including the 12 

maintenance of not-for-profit status, the continuation 13 

of support for health insurance programs for the 14 

uninsured and a clear statement that community mission 15 

includes reinvesting in the communities in areas of 16 

quality, safety and health information technologies.   17 

  Past testimony also references how we 18 

envision health insurance accountability.  Last week I 19 

testified before this committee regarding a 20 

certificate of need and focused on delivery system 21 

accountability.  We would contend that there needs to 22 

accountability on the financing of healthcare side as 23 

well.  And we would like to see clear and consistent 24 

reporting requirements for all health insurers, but 25 
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particularly of the merged plan so that there can be 1 

an analysis of the effectiveness of its performance.   2 

  One of the difficulties that we have had 3 

accessing public data is learning that not all of the 4 

reporting by all of the health insurers is done in the 5 

exact same way which makes it very difficult for  6 

non-insurance experts to evaluate some of the 7 

parameters of the merger.  And we think that the 8 

Insurance Department needs to take a clear role in 9 

establishing that reporting requirement.   10 

  I will note in my --- when we were 11 

preparing this testimony, it was unclear to us when 12 

all of the information previously deemed privileged 13 

for confidential will be released or when any 14 

information for the consultants, the Insurance 15 

Department's consultants will be made available.  And 16 

we are pleased on the Commissioner's announcement 17 

today, that at least preliminary reports from the 18 

experts will be posted later this week.   19 

  However, we still are somewhat 20 

disappointed that we will have less than 30 days from 21 

those postings to issue a final public comment.  And 22 

we would urge this committee in its due diligence to 23 

review the information that has been published by the 24 

Insurance Department to look at that information from 25 
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the experts and other information that you deem 1 

important and meritorious for establishing your 2 

position. 3 

  Lastly, on accountability should the 4 

insurance department approve the merger, we think 5 

there needs to be clear criteria for the ongoing 6 

monitoring evaluation of the merged planned compliance 7 

with any commitments stipulated in any agreement with 8 

either the Insurance Department or the Attorney 9 

General.  I will note that when hospitals merged and 10 

there are stipulations of agreement, the Attorney 11 

General's office carefully audits for compliance with 12 

those conditions, and we would like to see a similar 13 

process occur here.   14 

  Ultimately a vibrant insurance market 15 

offers an array --- offering an array of affordable 16 

health plans to Pennsylvanians will support quality 17 

access and enable fair and appropriate practices.  18 

Your role as the committee under Act 62 in evaluating 19 

the proposed merger is important.  And on behalf of 20 

all of Pennsylvania hospitals and health systems, we 21 

thank you for holding this hearing today.  And I look 22 

forward to answering any questions you might have. 23 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 24 

  Thank you, Paula.  Representative 25 
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Shapiro? 1 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 2 

  Thank you for your testimony.  I wanted 3 

to try and connect the dots on the merger issue as it 4 

relates to reimbursements for both facilities and 5 

practitioners.  So if you could help me do that, I’d 6 

appreciate it.  There is certainly a healthy debate 7 

today as to whether --- under the status quo for 8 

Highmark and Blue Cross whether reimbursements are 9 

adequate or not.  And regardless of what position you 10 

take on that issue, I want to ask the following 11 

question, how will it get worse for physicians or 12 

facilities, practitioners or facilities if the merger 13 

is allowed to go through?  You sited a lot of, you 14 

know, troubling potential impacts, but I have yet to 15 

see how the merger will decrease reimbursements or 16 

facilities or for practitioners.  I’m not saying it 17 

won’t happen.  I just need some help connecting the 18 

dots there, so help me make sense of that. 19 

  MS. BUSSARD: 20 

  The resulting plan will basically in 21 

effect be a statewide health plan in which the 22 

majority of Pennsylvanians who have health insurance 23 

will receive health coverage.  From the hospital's 24 

vantage point, that large plan left unchecked, left 25 
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with no parameters or conditions could easily 1 

influence any hospital's revenues and do a  2 

take-it-or-leave-it approach around any terms.  And so 3 

it is that dominances and its size without any checks 4 

and balances. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 6 

  I think we all agree that Independence 7 

Blue Cross is pretty big right now.  And Abington 8 

Hospital for example in my district is captive in many 9 

ways to the policies that Independence Blue Cross sets 10 

forth.  If IBC and Highmark merge and they've agreed 11 

as was testified to before and has been part of the 12 

public record, not to move in on each others turf, to 13 

essentially stay where they are now, how does the 14 

merger make it easier for IBC to make Abington 15 

Hospital like Warsaw? 16 

  MS. BUSSARD: 17 

  Because there definitely won’t be any 18 

other health insurance competition if they become one 19 

plan.  And despite the gentleman’s agreement or the 20 

dispute, we do see in central Pennsylvania and the 21 

data that we have, which is the financial data of 22 

hospitals, shows that there’s more stability when 23 

there is the competition.  I’ll go back to, you will 24 

have the majority of Pennsylvanians, 65 percent or 25 
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more, in one health plan.  And that kind of size 1 

compared to an individual physician’s ability, a 2 

community hospital's ability to say, no, that is the 3 

concern with no checks and balances.  And as my 4 

testimony says, we are interested if the merger is 5 

approved that there be appropriate checks and balances 6 

to preclude that kind of unfettered dominance. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 8 

  Just a final question.  I’m trying to 9 

play Devil's advocate in many ways to try and get at 10 

the point here.  If Highmark is not doing anything in 11 

Abington but they're part of this new larger 12 

conglomerate and it's still IBC that is sort of 13 

running the show in their own turf, I’m not sure how 14 

Abington ---. 15 

  MS. BUSSARD: 16 

  It's one plan.  If they merge, there will 17 

be one plan regardless of how many regional offices 18 

they have.  There will be one plan that will be the 19 

largest health insurer in the commercial health 20 

insurance market and the Medicaid and the Medicare 21 

managed care market.  It will be one plan.  It won’t 22 

be IBC and Highmark.  It will be a plan. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 24 

  Do you see competition IBC and Highmark 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

96

now that's keeping prices low and reimbursements high? 1 

  MS. BUSSARD: 2 

  Not between those two plans, but they 3 

compete in the Medicaid managed market, and that might 4 

be keeping rates for the State Department of Public 5 

Welfare lower.  We also see Blue-on-Blue competition 6 

in south central Pennsylvania, and at least from a 7 

small group which HAP is, we have benefited greatly in 8 

lower premium increases because of that competition. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 10 

  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 11 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 12 

  Representative Killion? 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 14 

  I’m kind of following up on the same 15 

thing because I think I’m confused the same as 16 

Representative Shapiro.  I understand competing in the 17 

southeast, and we're talking of my hospital which is 18 

in my district and the Crozer-Keystone System, when 19 

there comes a time to renegotiate their contract with 20 

the Blues, it can be difficult since they have such a 21 

large market share and you get hit with a  22 

take-it-or-leave-it or you have to take everything, 23 

not just pieces.  So that part I fully understand, but 24 

following up with Representative Shapiro, healthcare 25 
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is a regional thing.  You know, you get your 1 

healthcare in this area where you live, generally.  2 

Where are they when they meet Joan Richards at  3 

Crozer-Keystone Health System are they in a stronger 4 

position because they're insuring all these folks in 5 

Pittsburgh?  That’s what I don’t understand.  I’m not 6 

saying that I disagree with what you’re saying.  I 7 

think it might be bad now.  I don’t know if this makes 8 

it any worse, I guess, is my point. 9 

  MS. BUSSARD: 10 

  Well, we would say that the two companies 11 

coming together to merge does present the opportunity 12 

for government oversight, and we do believe there 13 

needs to be the check and balances.  We have 14 

consistently opposed use of most-favored nation for 15 

all time products that would allow large dominant 16 

plans to basically take it or leave it.  They're 17 

merging.  That gives you an opportunity to be clear on 18 

what checks and balances need to occur. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 20 

  Just to close out, so what you're saying 21 

is that this --- we have an opportunity now to take a 22 

hard look at what we can do to make it a little bit 23 

better for our doctors and hospitals?   24 

  MS. BUSSARD: 25 
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  Exactly. 1 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 2 

  Okay.  I have no problem with that. 3 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 4 

  Representative Boyd? 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 6 

  I wanted to follow up on that.  I think 7 

that we're getting to the essence of it.  Currently 8 

IBC may dominate that marketplace, but there are 9 

current other insurers that do provide product in that 10 

area.  Is that a true statement? 11 

  MS. BUSSARD: 12 

  Yes. 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 14 

  Some of the independents that were 15 

represented here earlier.  Paula, would it be fair to 16 

say that in a statewide organization Highmark/IBC, 17 

that pressure is going to be on them whether they want 18 

to consider to play at all in the marketplace, is one 19 

thing that could happen?  And then if they choose not 20 

to play, then what little competition is out there 21 

today may end up going away?  And I think that that’s 22 

what I heard in your testimony ---  23 

  MS. BUSSARD: 24 

  Exactly. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 1 

  --- is your concern of what happens if  2 

--- and now wanting to create that situation because 3 

what we’re saying now is there’s currently lack of 4 

competition, and we’re running into these issues.  5 

Does this make it better or worse or leave it in 6 

neutral?  Well, if it’s not good the way it is, why 7 

should we leave it in neutral if the only potential is 8 

to make it worse?  So I’m sure there might be some 9 

response from the Blues as they testify, but I --- 10 

that’s what I hear is going on at this point.  I just 11 

wanted to clarify that. 12 

  MS. BUSSARD: 13 

  That is exactly what we are saying. 14 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 15 

  Paula, thank you for your testimony 16 

today. 17 

  MS. BUSSARD: 18 

  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 20 

  Our next presenter is Steven Udvarhelyi.  21 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 22 

  Udvarhelyi (corrects pronunciation.) 23 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 24 

  I knew you'd clarify that.  Senior Vice 25 
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President Chief Medical Officer and Deborah Rice 1 

Senior Vice President of Western Regional Markets of 2 

Highmark and IBC. 3 

  MS. RICE: 4 

  That’s right.  Thank you very much for 5 

having us today.  I’m going to lead off.  I am Deborah 6 

Rice the Senior Vice President of Regional Markets in 7 

Western PA for Highmark, and also with me is Dr. 8 

Steven Udvarhelyi.  Now, I’m wondering if I'm saying 9 

it correctly.  He is Senior Vice President at IBC and 10 

Chief Medical Officer.  We want to thank the committee 11 

for the opportunity to speak to you today about why 12 

the proposed combination of Highmark and Independence 13 

Blue Cross into a company that is good for 14 

Pennsylvania and how it will create value for 15 

communities in which we operate for our customers for 16 

healthcare providers, most of all for the people in 17 

Pennsylvania. 18 

  Since our Boards of Directors agreed to 19 

combine two companies in March of 2007, we have been 20 

engaged in an extensive review process involving state 21 

and federal regulatory agencies with input from state 22 

and federal public officials.  As you know, the 23 

Pennsylvania Insurance Department in July held a 24 

series of public informational hearings across the 25 
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state for consolidation.  We have also provided 1 

responses to all the departments, original and 2 

supplemental questions.  It has been an important and 3 

cooperative open review process.  Today we continue 4 

this open dialog about how the combination would 5 

better serve the needs of Pennsylvania.   6 

  Our companies have a proud tradition of 7 

serving Pennsylvania as a non-profit company.  For 70 8 

years IBC and Highmark have had a common mission to 9 

help ensure the healthcare is available, affordable 10 

and high quality for all Pennsylvanians.  Throughout 11 

our history we have made insurance programs available 12 

for everyone regardless of age, gender and health 13 

status.  We have provided assistance to people in 14 

financial need by subsidizing health insurance 15 

programs for children, lower-income individuals and 16 

families of older adults. 17 

  Moreover, we have provided financial 18 

support with health education and community health 19 

programs.  At the same time, according to study we  20 

commissioned, Highmark and IBC have a significant 21 

positive impact on Pennsylvania with a total annual 22 

economic impact of $4.2 billion to the state's 23 

economy.  The companies employ approximately 18,000 24 

people in high quality jobs in the state and purchase 25 
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a significant amount of goods and services from 1 

Pennsylvania-based company.   2 

  This transaction, however, is not about 3 

the past and the present.  It is about the future and 4 

about preserving not-profit status, and it is about 5 

laying the foundation for positive changes in the way 6 

healthcare is delivered and paid for in Pennsylvania. 7 

Coming together our two companies can remain a 8 

financially vibrant Pennsylvania-based company and 9 

achieve tangible savings and growth opportunities of 10 

more than one billion dollars will be used to address 11 

healthcare cost, quality and access to medical care in 12 

Pennsylvania.  The combination will also allow us to 13 

strengthen our contribution to the Pennsylvania 14 

economy by the way we employ people, by creating new 15 

business opportunities for Pennsylvania-based 16 

businesses and by supporting the community through 17 

programs and services that we have historically 18 

embraced. 19 

  The proposed combination is important 20 

given the challenging health environment.  Healthcare 21 

costs are rising dramatically.  We know that the cost 22 

of healthcare is making health insurance less 23 

affordable for the businesses today.  As a result, 24 

fewer businesses are unable to maintain healthcare 25 
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coverage and more people are joining the ranks of the 1 

uninsured.  We are also seeing more people moving to 2 

public health insurance programs, which means more 3 

healthcare coverage is being financed through the 4 

federal and state governments. 5 

  The demographics of Pennsylvania also 6 

present challenges.  The state has an aging population 7 

that is creating more demand for healthcare services. 8 

We also have an aging workforce in many industries 9 

including healthcare.  This places an added strain on 10 

our healthcare system as the aging population uses 11 

more medical services.  Questions are also being 12 

raised about the quality of healthcare today and the 13 

variation of medical care from community to community 14 

for people with the same medical condition.   15 

  With these critical issues facing us 16 

across Pennsylvania and nationally, rapid change is 17 

occurring in healthcare.  Consumers are taking greater 18 

responsibility for their personal healthcare decisions 19 

and their costs.  The change is creating the need for 20 

investments in technology so people can access their 21 

own personal health information and have programs 22 

available to better manage their own care.   23 

  As these forces shape healthcare, two 24 

points have become very critical to business success. 25 
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First it's scale.  It has become increasingly 1 

important to achieve greater efficiency and lower 2 

administrative costs.  The scale competition has 3 

shifted from a local to a regional and national basis. 4 

We have a growing need be a multi-product,  5 

multi-market company to become --- to be able to 6 

compete in the future and to spread our risks and to 7 

better serve our customers.  Second, there is a 8 

growing need for capital for investments to meet the 9 

marketplace demand as we outlined earlier.   10 

  The health insurance industry is 11 

responding by consolidating.  In the past 15 years, 12 

the top 20 insurers have substantially increased their 13 

share of subscribers and commercial health insurance 14 

market.  Even more significant during the same period, 15 

large well capitalized for-profit insurers have gained 16 

a much larger share of commercial health insurance 17 

subscribers compared to non-profit health insurance 18 

companies.  The largest players in healthcare today 19 

are Wellpoint, United Healthcare, Aetna and CIGNA with 20 

anywhere from 13 million to 35 million subscribers.  21 

They have the scale and the product diversity to 22 

spread their operating costs over many more 23 

subscribers.  They also can leverage their large 24 

subscriber base to pay better prices from national 25 
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suppliers of laboratory services, durable medical 1 

equipment, radiology services and pharmaceuticals. 2 

  In contract, Highmark and IBC combined 3 

have eight million subscribers.  Consolidation isn’t 4 

unique for the for-profit health insurance company. 5 

It’s happening in Blue Cross/Blue Shield systems in 6 

the United States as well.  Today there are 39 7 

Independence Blue Cross and Blue Shield companies. 8 

That is one third the number since 1980 when there 9 

were 115 Blue Cross and Blue Shield companies.  In 10 

fact, some Blue Cross and Blue Shield companies 11 

operate in multiple states.  These companies have 12 

gained operating efficiencies and can better serve 13 

their customers.   14 

  Pennsylvania stands alone in that we have 15 

four Independent Blue Cross and Blue Shield companies. 16 

This is problematic because we are operating less 17 

efficiently than we would be by investing in redundant 18 

technologies and capabilities that have more cost in 19 

the state's healthcare system.  As the two companies 20 

have looked at the changing healthcare environment and 21 

the need for greater scale and more capital, it has 22 

become clear that the combination of IBC and Highmark 23 

is a natural fit and would bring significant benefits 24 

to the people of Pennsylvania. 25 
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  The two companies have almost identical 1 

missions and have worked together for over 50 years to 2 

better serve the community through programs like the 3 

Caring Foundation.  We also have the complimentary 4 

product.  Highmark's vision, dental lines of business 5 

compliments IBC's pharmacy benefit management,  6 

third-party administration and Workers' Compensation 7 

programs.  Together our two companies can offer a core 8 

blend of benefits to better serve the customers on a 9 

common platform.   10 

  What’s most important is bringing our 11 

companies together, will not lessen competition in 12 

commercial health insurance or reduce choice in the 13 

market in Pennsylvania in the future.  Our subscribers 14 

will continue to have the same wide variety and choice 15 

of competitive health insurance markets as they have 16 

today.   17 

  Although over 100 witnesses appeared at 18 

the recent Pennsylvania Insurance Department hearings 19 

and many others have filed comments with the Insurance 20 

Department, we are not aware of our over 50,000 21 

commercial group customers have complained that there 22 

will be less choice for insurance the day after the 23 

transaction has occurred.   24 

  And lastly, the United States Department 25 
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of Justice has twice reviewed proposed consolidation 1 

of the two companies and both times have cleared the 2 

transaction under federal anti-trust law.  Thank you. 3 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 4 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you 5 

again for the opportunity.  As a resident of Chester 6 

County I’m also honored that we have the hearing here 7 

in this county.  As I mentioned my name is Steve 8 

Udvarhelyi, and I’m the Chief Medical Officer and 9 

Senior Vice President for Independence Blue Cross.  10 

And we do have a proud tradition of serving our 11 

subscribers in our local communities as two companies. 12 

Our organizations have a longstanding and positive 13 

partnership, and we have a responsibility to promote 14 

the value and enhance the trust of the Blue brand 15 

which serves more than one in three Americans.  So  16 

coming together is a logical extension of our 17 

historical partnership.  We believe that the business 18 

growth opportunities and anticipated efficiencies and 19 

savings will enable us to achieve several real and 20 

important goals. 21 

  First and foremost, we are committed to 22 

help make health insurance more affordable.  23 

Affordability is the number one issue with our 24 

subscribers, and we have a responsibility do better on 25 
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this issue.  At the same time, our subscribes are 1 

demanding that we help control costs.  They also want 2 

us to continue to invest in products and services to 3 

help improve quality and healthcare outcomes and to 4 

expand our efforts in health promotion and wellness 5 

programs.   6 

  Physicians, hospitals and other 7 

healthcare providers have been valued partners in our 8 

company’s missions of assuring access to high quality 9 

networks of providers.  We are committed to 10 

maintaining our well-established relationship with 11 

providers and enhancing incentive programs to help 12 

ensure the delivery of high quality care.  We will 13 

continue to be a viable and a successful leader in our 14 

communities, and our combined resources are expected 15 

to generate new business which will help bring more 16 

jobs in Pennsylvania and stimulate additional business 17 

opportunities for Pennsylvania-based businesses.   18 

  Our final goal is to effectively use 19 

technology to make it easier for our subscribers and 20 

for providers to do business with us, and we’re 21 

committed to work tirelessly to achieve these goals.  22 

So to support these goals, we’ve identified tangible 23 

benefits that the proposed combination will achieve.  24 

So by combining the two companies, and I’ll add only 25 
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by combining the companies we will be able to generate 1 

more than one billion dollars in additional economic 2 

benefits over six years.  This is new money and goes 3 

beyond any commitments we have made to date.  These 4 

additional monies will be generated by savings from 5 

business efficiencies and growth opportunities that 6 

the companies could not produce individually.  And 7 

unlike the consolidations of publicly held companies 8 

where the savings flow to shareholders, every dollar 9 

of the economic benefits of this combination will go 10 

back to improving healthcare in Pennsylvania. 11 

  In addition, to the one billion dollars, 12 

we have also agreed to voluntarily extend the 13 

community health reinvestment agreement with the 14 

Commonwealth for three more years.  That agreement is 15 

currently set to expire in 2010 and this represents an 16 

additional estimated $350 million that can be used to 17 

help more Pennsylvanians obtain healthcare coverage.   18 

  Let’s now turn to specific benefits for 19 

different industry stakeholders.  For our subscribers, 20 

we pledge to freeze the administrative fees for their 21 

health insurance premiums for two years.  This will 22 

save our subscribers approximately $295 million in 23 

their premiums over six years.  And while we know 24 

affordability in healthcare is primarily driven by the 25 
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88 to 90 cents of every premium dollar that we pay 1 

hospitals, physicians and other providers for their 2 

services given to our subscribers we want to make sure 3 

that we address those costs that we most directly 4 

control, our administrative expenses. 5 

  In addition to these administrative cost 6 

commitments, we also expect to save our subscribers 7 

another $285 million over six years on prescription 8 

drug costs by capturing higher rebates and pharmacy 9 

discounts and by lowering administrative costs.  10 

Savings possible only with the larger subscriber base. 11 

We expect an additional $100 million of efficiencies 12 

will be generated by the consolidation that can be 13 

used to fund expanded healthcare quality programs.  14 

These could include continuing expanding each 15 

companies E-prescribing programs and encouraging the 16 

implementation of both standardized personal health 17 

records and electronic medical records.  Giving 18 

greater use of these tools, it will lead to higher 19 

quality care and better patient safety such as fewer 20 

medication errors, which will result in greater 21 

savings for subscribers in the long run. 22 

  The new company also plans to combine and 23 

expand the best of the health promotional wellness 24 

programs offered by both Highmark and IBC to help 25 
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improve the health and the wellbeing of our 1 

subscribers.  Over time, a healthier workforce will be 2 

more productive at work and consume fewer health 3 

services.  Moreover we will offer our subscribers a 4 

wider array of products and services by integrating 5 

vision, dental and disability programs to medical and 6 

pharmacy health plan choices.  We are proud of our 7 

long standing relationship with physicians, hospitals 8 

and other providers.  The value of our brand is based 9 

on the fact that we offer our subscribers broad, high 10 

quality provider networks, and healthcare providers 11 

will remain important partners in the future.  We 12 

believe the consolidation would benefit healthcare 13 

providers in a number of ways. 14 

  For example, in the past few years IBC 15 

and Highmark have pioneered a technology tool called 16 

NaviNet to help simplify administrative transactions 17 

with both physician’s offices and hospitals.  The 18 

consolidation will enable us to build upon this 19 

capability so that physician’s offices and hospitals 20 

can spend more time to improve patient outcomes, 21 

patient safety and health and wellness and worry less 22 

about administrative tasks.  We will be committed to 23 

provider payment levels that preserve our networks and 24 

help promote optimal quality care.  This is why we 25 
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plan to expand pay for performance programs that 1 

provide incentives for healthcare providers to deliver 2 

increasingly high quality care.  We all recognize that 3 

payments solely based on the volume of services are no 4 

longer sustainable in today’s healthcare environment, 5 

and incentives must be aligned to promote quality of 6 

care and delivery of evidence based care.  And here is 7 

one very important point.  Not one dollar of the one 8 

billion dollars in economic benefits will result in 9 

reductions and provide a reimbursement. 10 

  Over the past few years, Highmark and IBC 11 

have developed close working relationships with 12 

hospitals and physicians which are focused on 13 

improving patient safety and reducing prescription 14 

errors.  The new company will seek to expand these 15 

partnerships to help raise the bar in the delivery of 16 

high quality care.   17 

  And lastly, let me talk about how the 18 

consolidation will benefit our local communities where 19 

our employees, our subscribers and families live and 20 

work.  IBC and Highmark have carried out our community 21 

mission in many ways, none more critical than offering 22 

coverage to individuals and families that large  23 

for-profit insurers simple will not insure.  Our 24 

coming together will enable us to continue to 25 
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subsidize programs for the uninsured lower income 1 

families and older adults.  In addition, we will 2 

commit $300 million to new and existing programs for 3 

the uninsured the underinsured and small business 4 

employees.  The company intends to work with key 5 

stakeholders and public officials to identify the most 6 

effective ways of using these monies.  So together 7 

these commitments total one billion dollars in new 8 

money plus the additional $350 million to extend our 9 

commitment to the community health reinvestment 10 

agreement.   11 

  The new company will build on our long 12 

standing support for programs and services aimed at 13 

addressing community health needs, and we believe 14 

there will be tremendous opportunity to expand our 15 

companies current program statewide such as grieving 16 

centers for children and families, funding for medical 17 

and dental clinics for the uninsured, addressing 18 

childhood health issues and providing scholarships to 19 

increase the supply of nurses and other healthcare 20 

professionals. 21 

  Just last year IBC and Highmark provided 22 

about $200 million in community contributions to 23 

expand access to health insurance and to support a 24 

variety of community health and human service 25 
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programs.   1 

  In conclusion, the consolidation is 2 

important for us to remain a viable non-profit company 3 

that will strengthen our commitment to the community 4 

and the economy of Pennsylvania.  Do we expect to grow 5 

our business?  Absolutely.  And this business growth 6 

and the resulting revenue will be supported by 7 

additional jobs and investments in Pennsylvania.  No 8 

one company or organization alone can solve all the 9 

problems of the healthcare system, but we do believe 10 

that this consolidation offers a pathway to positive 11 

change in our healthcare system that Pennsylvanians 12 

are looking for.  Thank you. 13 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 14 

  Thank you.  Taking the prerogative as 15 

Chair, I'm going to ask the first question.  Under the 16 

Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensing program does 17 

Highmark have a specific license territory and IBC a 18 

separate license territory? 19 

  MS. RICE: 20 

  Yes.  The Blue Cross/Blue Shield  21 

Association provides brands and we are able to use 22 

those brands.  Highmark can use our Blue Cross/Blue 23 

Shield brands in Western Pennsylvania and Central 24 

Pennsylvania.  IBC uses ---. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 1 

  How many counties does that encompass? 2 

  MS. RICE:   3 

  Forty-nine (49). 4 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 5 

  And Independence Blue Cross has the right 6 

to use the Blue Cross brand in five counties in 7 

Southeastern Pennsylvania? 8 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 9 

  Those five counties separate from ---? 10 

  MS. RICE: 11 

  Yes. 12 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 13 

  Thank you.  Representative  14 

McIlvaine-Smith. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 16 

  Thank you very much, and thank you, Mr. 17 

Chairman.  I sort of have questions all over the map, 18 

so bear with me.  I’ve got little notes everywhere, 19 

but I wanted to first start with Richard Dreyfuss’s 20 

letter to Robert Baum.  Forgive Richard Dreyfuss for 21 

stealing your stuff here, but I think it’s important. 22 

And I’m quoting his letter.  It says, based upon what 23 

I have learned, your reasons for merger are not 24 

compelling.  It is effectively being portrayed as two 25 
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large non-profit entities becoming larger.  I am 1 

accustomed to mergers and consolidations in the 2 

private sector which usually identifies a definitive 3 

cost savings and a clear strategic purpose.  And he 4 

goes on to list what your cost savings are supposed to 5 

come to.  But it says --- his question, which I think 6 

is really good.  It says, for example, I would think 7 

that you could lower administrative costs without a 8 

merger.  9 

So how is a merger which holds administrative costs 10 

flat to be applauded and defined as savings.  I’m 11 

asking you that, but could you first tell me what your 12 

administrative expenses are?  What is the percentage? 13 

I've heard all sorts of figures over the years.  Is it 14 

30 percent, higher, lower? 15 

  MS. RICE: 16 

  On average it’s about 10 percent so as  17 

Steve indicated in his testimony, 88 to 90 percent of 18 

all dollars collected are paid to providers, hospitals 19 

and physicians. 20 

  REPERSENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 21 

  And that’s for Highmark? 22 

  MS. RICE: 23 

  Right. 24 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 25 
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  And the 88 to 90 cents is for both 1 

organizations. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 3 

  Okay. 4 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 5 

  So it’s between nine and ten percent is 6 

the administrative expense, and, Representative, it's 7 

an excellent question.  We are lowering our 8 

administrative expenses every day, every year.  What 9 

we said about when we were planning the consolidation 10 

and we worked with an outside consultant, Booze and 11 

Company, who is nationally respected, to say we want 12 

to identify those savings that we cannot get 13 

individually.  And working with them as consultants, 14 

the billion dollars that I just described are savings 15 

that would not be achievable by the companies staying 16 

separately.  And they're on top of the activities 17 

we’re already doing on a day-to-day basis to lower 18 

administrative expenses.   19 

  In addition to that planning, just to put 20 

some additional level of detail, both organizations 21 

have been working with Booze and Company and other 22 

consultants in a very detailed implementation plan on 23 

exactly how those savings will be achieved.  So we 24 

believe they're credible.  We believe that they cannot 25 
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be achieved individually and we have a very definitive 1 

plan on how to do that. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 3 

  And will part of the efficiencies then be 4 

gained by laying off employees? 5 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 6 

  We don’t believe that we need to lay off 7 

employees.  We have a fairly high efficient rate.  8 

Both companies now have an efficient rate of 10 to 12 9 

percent annually.  And over a six-year period, we do 10 

believe that there will be fewer jobs in some areas.  11 

We hope that the growth will provide new jobs in other 12 

areas, so we don’t believe that there will need to be 13 

any layoffs and that through normal attrition, we'll 14 

be able to handle the job more efficiently. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 16 

  Okay.  And I’m sorry.  Just one more and 17 

I’ll turn it over.  There was a statement that said in 18 

contrast that Highmark and IBC combined have eight 19 

million subscribers.  Aren’t there only 12 million 20 

people in Pennsylvania?  So that means we have a 21 

million uninsured so there’s only three million people 22 

with other companies. 23 

  MS. RICE: 24 

  That's an excellent question.  Actually, 25 
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we had the same question when we were in Erie.  Much 1 

of our business is also through our national account 2 

business.  So whenever you think about that type of 3 

business, we’re covering members or employees all over 4 

the country.  So an example that I would use in 5 

Western Pennsylvania is PPG or USX.  A number of them 6 

would have employees that --- a large percentage of 7 

their employees are outside of our --- outside 8 

Pennsylvania quite frankly.  That also is true in IBC. 9 

  MS. UDVARHELYI: 10 

  So a good example would be Comcast who is 11 

one of our members, so we ensure every Comcast 12 

employee nationally.   13 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 14 

  Affordability is the number one issue 15 

with our subscribers you say, and we have a 16 

responsibility to do better on that issue.  And I know 17 

you said something about the uninsured, but I’d like 18 

to point out that it’s also underinsured people in 19 

this state.  I have a really large concern and 20 

personal experience directly with this insurance --- 21 

with the insurance problems.  And I also questioned 22 

how you will be able to do better on the 23 

pharmaceutical, so I’ll pass it on.  I’d like to talk 24 

to you though privately at some point.  Thank you. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 1 

  Representative Boyd? 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 3 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I guess as I 4 

listened to both of your testimonies and some of the 5 

things that other people have said, it seems to me 6 

what it comes down to is that if Highmark and IBC 7 

merge, there’s going to basically be a billion to 1.35 8 

billion dollars in revenue available to this state in 9 

some fashion, not necessarily to the state, but 10 

ultimately to be used for other programs.  And I guess 11 

my question comes down to this.  And when I say used 12 

for other programs, very specifically it would be 13 

manifested in community reinvestment dollars.  There 14 

would be some existing savings over a period of time 15 

and you continued the community reimbursement dollars, 16 

which to me, and I’ve seen it a couple of times in 17 

here, it totals roughly 1.35.  Is that relevantly 18 

accurate? 19 

  MS. RICE: 20 

  Well, the one billion dollars is actually 21 

manifested in different ways, so that savings --- we 22 

talk about $295 million by holding our administrative 23 

fees flat for customers.  That goes directly to the 24 

customer.  $285 million in savings as a result of our 25 
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pharmacy efforts seeing what we can do together there 1 

and then there’s $350,000 that’s the number in terms 2 

of contributing and supporting the uninsured and then 3 

the $300 million. 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 5 

  All right.  Thank you for clarifying that 6 

because I didn’t want to be inaccurate.  The question 7 

I have specifically is this, if Highmark and IBC and 8 

NEPA and Capital basically don’t compete now in their 9 

geographic regions, why can’t you accomplish all of 10 

those goals of unifying on the prescription benefit 11 

and providing those benefits for everybody, not just 12 

folks that you would represent?  Why can’t you --- you 13 

know, you identify in your testimony that you work 14 

together on NaviNet, I believe it’s called.  Why can’t 15 

you do that --- if you're doing that now, why can’t 16 

you do that with the four Blues that exist in 17 

Pennsylvania?  Why don’t you all get together and work 18 

for the benefit of all of the Blue customers so that 19 

we’d all recognize some of these savings?  Why do you 20 

need to merge?  And I mean, it’s clear Capital has 21 

taken a stance adamantly opposed to the merger.  So 22 

there’s obviously some people who think this is good, 23 

some people who think this is bad.  My question comes 24 

down to why don’t you do it now anyway? 25 
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  DR. UDVARHELYI: 1 

  That’s an excellent question.  That’s one 2 

of the questions we posed actually to the Booze and 3 

Company, the consultants report, but then they 4 

validated for us that while you can get some 5 

incremental benefits from joint ventures, 6 

collaborations et cetera, you can never get the same 7 

level of results in that kind of environment that can 8 

be bringing two companies together because there's 9 

certain infrastructure you just can’t eliminate.  10 

Those two companies still maintain fiduciary  11 

responsibilities that are separate.  And there’s a 12 

limitation on sharing certain financial information. 13 

  So let me just give one very real example 14 

that if we were one company, we could eliminate a 15 

large investment that would be coming down the road, 16 

that if we're separate companies, we can’t.  And that 17 

is the federal government has announced that we’re 18 

going to move away from ICD-9 into ICD-10.  That is 19 

going to require a computer reprogramming of the scale 20 

of probably as Y2K and HIPAA combined plus some.  If 21 

we’re two companies, we are going to separately invest 22 

in that, just as we separately invested in converting 23 

our systems to NPI, separately converting our systems 24 

to HIPAA.  You can only do that if you're one company.  25 
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  So the same thing on the pharmacy side.  1 

If we're one company we have a single operating 2 

platform, and there’s no need to keep anything 3 

separate.  We will achieve greater savings than we 4 

could if we were doing collaboration or joint 5 

ventures. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 7 

  Then the final question I have is, how 8 

much can I expect, as a Highmark customer?  My rates 9 

to go down as a result of the approval of the merger? 10 

What percentage will my premiums drop? 11 

  MS. RICE: 12 

  So whenever we look at the savings that 13 

will be introduced into the marketplace, the holding 14 

administrative fees flat for example and the $295 15 

million in savings that will be over six year, each 16 

employer will see some portion of that.  With that 17 

said, depending on how they attribute that to, you 18 

know, ensuring that they continue to provide coverage 19 

for their employees will depend on how each of those 20 

employers are able to pass them onto their members.   21 

  So, you know, we don’t have a specific 22 

amount per customer because it varies.  It varies by 23 

the type of benefits that they provide.  It varies by 24 

what their actually purchasing from us.  We talked 25 
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about the $285 million in savings for pharmacy 1 

benefits.  Not all of our customers purchase pharmacy 2 

benefits, so it really is variable.   3 

  In addition, if I could just add one more 4 

comment, those are savings we know we control and can 5 

have impact on early on.  Whenever we think about what 6 

the merger is going to bring and some of the 7 

technology we’ll be able to invest in --- Steve talked 8 

about the $100 million in technologies and moving and 9 

introducing, you know, E-prescribing and some of the 10 

electronic tools that will make healthcare of higher 11 

quality.  We’re hopeful that that will also show an 12 

impact on healthcare cost.  So you know, that’s part 13 

of what our organizations coming together will try to 14 

accomplish. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 16 

  I guess it would be easier for me to have 17 

a warm fuzzy feeling about this if I periodically ask 18 

this question to some of my friends in the room and 19 

said, okay, if we’re going to recognize all of these 20 

savings, there’s this streamlining this benefit.  If 21 

I’m sitting on your Board of Directors and I vote to 22 

approve this, there’s a benefit, there’s a reason I 23 

voted for that.  As a small employer with a group of 24 

22 bodies, 22 lives who has potentially Highmark or 25 
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IBC as my --- and I go apples to apples the day before 1 

or the year before to the year after, what’s going to 2 

happen to my premiums?  Will they go down?  And not 3 

one person has said to me yes.  They won’t commit to 4 

that and that’s the thing about this whole situation 5 

that has me concerned.   6 

  If this was translating into lower 7 

premiums for payers for the ultimate users because 8 

even Rosemary Greco in the office of Healthcare 9 

Reform, the Governor's Healthcare Reform Taskforce, 10 

what they said is 70-plus percent of people have 11 

identified the reason they are not providing health 12 

insurance is because of cost. 13 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 14 

  Representative, that’s an excellent 15 

point.  So we know one thing, we know the status quo 16 

is not working.  And so we need to create a foundation 17 

for change, and that’s what we think this combination 18 

will help us do.  Because if we stay where we are, 19 

then we know that the pace of increases in healthcare 20 

cost, which have been going up year after year, will 21 

just continue.  So we do believe that this combination 22 

represents the best platform in our perspective to 23 

create a way to change for the better. 24 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 25 
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  I hear you and I understand you make a 1 

compelling argument and I sit back being a product of 2 

public education, both high school and college, and I 3 

go to my basic Econ 101 class, and bottom line is 4 

supply and demand drives price.  Competition always 5 

has driven the price down and quality up.  It's worked 6 

across --- it's been pretty good for 200-some odd 7 

years here in the state and the nation.  I just don’t 8 

see this as promoting more competition, but I know you 9 

have your view and I respect that.  I really do.   10 

  MS. RICE: 11 

  If I can just make one more comment.  You 12 

brought up small group.  Certainly we’re aware there 13 

are issues in small group environment, and Highmark 14 

and IBC both --- whenever we look at small group 15 

business, we’re not medically underwriting small group 16 

business as our competitors are the commercial health 17 

insurers. Quite frankly, we are subsidizing some of 18 

that business and we absolutely are very concerned 19 

about the uninsured rate that occurs whenever a small 20 

group business that no longer can afford to provide 21 

insurance, what that does to their employees.  So this 22 

is my pitch, we’re all for some sort of reform, small 23 

group reform in the state. 24 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 25 
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  For the information of the members, I’m 1 

recognizing members in the order that you caught my 2 

eye.  At this point I recognize Representative 3 

Pashinski. 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI:            5 

      Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you very 6 

much for you testimony.  I’m looking for that warm 7 

fuzzy feeling that Representative Boyd was talking 8 

about. 9 

  MS. RICE: 10 

  We’re trying. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE PAHSINSKI: 12 

  Let me just ask a direct question.  13 

Representative Smith did such a great job of asking 14 

all those questions.  On page two, sir, of your 15 

testimony --- page three rather, you state in the 16 

second paragraph, we will continue to be a viable and 17 

successful leader in our communities.  Our combined  18 

resources are expected to generate new business.  What 19 

new businesses are you referring to? 20 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 21 

  So we have a number --- in addition to 22 

sort of what health insurances offer, we also offer 23 

what I would call ancillary services, dental, vision. 24 

I can let Deb talk specifically about those.  For IBC 25 
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we have a Workers’ Comp business.  We also have a 1 

pharmacy management subsidiary.  So those businesses, 2 

not only to providing services and coverage to 3 

Pennsylvanians have the ability to go nationally.  And 4 

our success in those business helps brings jobs to 5 

Pennsylvania and dollars back here to help us do what 6 

we continue to do with our social mission, which is 7 

try to help make healthcare affordable here.  So the 8 

more successful we are across all of our enterprises, 9 

the more viable and beneficial we can be to our core 10 

mission. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 12 

  Are those for-profit companies? 13 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 14 

  Many of them are for-profit. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 16 

  How does that work with your overall 17 

profits?  Are they separate and therefore they operate 18 

independently so that their profits do not relate to 19 

the main company's profits? 20 

  MS. RICE: 21 

  Well, they do --- speaking for Highmark, 22 

they do all roll up to the corporate-wide sort of 23 

financial statements.  So as Steve said, our --- I can 24 

speak for Dr. Melani, he has set certain levels he 25 
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expects subsidiary companies to perform at so they 1 

continue to support our mission.  And that is their 2 

goal, to keep that.   3 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 4 

  The same with us. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 6 

  Okay.  And you do, again, state 7 

affordable. This is where we had --- I think all of us 8 

here are just trying to say we’re looking for ways 9 

that we can reduce the premium cost because if we 10 

reduce the premium cost then municipalities, school 11 

districts, government, there’s more money then and 12 

less money that you need from your taxes. 13 

  DR. UDVARHELYI:   14 

  We are keenly aware of that.  Today, as I 15 

said, we spend 88 to 90 cents of every premium dollar 16 

to pay for the services that our subscribers get from 17 

healthcare providers.  That’s the prime drive of cost 18 

of healthcare.  We believe that we need to do as good 19 

a job and a better job of controlling the nine to ten 20 

cents for every premium dollar we spend on the 21 

administrative services and make that as low as 22 

possible.  We think that through prevention, wellness 23 

and technology tools we can make an impact on keeping 24 

the people healthier.  As you well know, chronic 25 
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disease account for the vast majority of healthcare 1 

expenditures, and we're continually looking for ways 2 

to innovate to help avoid those expenses by keeping 3 

people healthier.  And we think the technology 4 

investments in the future and information technology 5 

and tools et cetera are of a scale that we do believe 6 

that bringing the companies together is a critical 7 

enabler to us to make the investments that we need to 8 

to successfully compete and do that. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 10 

  It would help us, though.  Along with 11 

Representative Boyd --- and I think this is where he 12 

was going.  It would help us to make our decision if 13 

we could see some real cost savings in monetary 14 

figures rather than roof figures of affordable.  You 15 

know, if all these things are implemented, exactly 16 

what will the customer save?  And even if you drop 17 

your administrative rates from the ten percent to nine 18 

percent, what would that save in the premium dollar? 19 

  MS. RICE: 20 

  We’re not prepared to talk about what 21 

that does for each individual customer, but what we 22 

can ---. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 24 

  Well, overall you can give an idea.  The 25 
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rates would drop by ---. 1 

  MS. RICE: 2 

  Well, overall the savings is the one 3 

million dollars that we talked about.  So whenever you 4 

think about a group customer purchasing health 5 

insurance, it's holding administrative fees flat that 6 

generates over a six-year period $295 million in 7 

savings.  I can’t equate that right now sitting here 8 

to what that would mean to an individual customer, but 9 

over all it's $295 million.  For those customers who 10 

are purchasing their drug benefit through Highmark or 11 

through IBC, it's another $285 million in savings.  12 

And then the other components that we talked about, 13 

our investments, either for the insured or for smaller 14 

market, or as Steve has talked about in his testimony, 15 

the $100 million in technology is really to help us to 16 

impact the cost that we don’t control and that being 17 

the care cost through program such as quality 18 

programs, working providers and those sorts of things. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 20 

  How do you keep it flat?  By attrition? 21 

  MS. RICE: 22 

  How do we keep it flat through ---? 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 24 

  The administrative cost. 25 
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  MS. RICE: 1 

  If we're going straight across, that’s 2 

right.  And the way we’re doing that is by some of the 3 

savings that we gain from coming together so moving 4 

onto a different platform, some of the economies we 5 

have are limiting duplication of efforts or 6 

transactions will help us to do that. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE PASHINSKI: 8 

  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 10 

  Before I recognize the next person, do 11 

you need to take a drink or something? 12 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 13 

  You’re fine?  Okay.  Representative 14 

Killion? 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 16 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The one thing 17 

I'm having difficulty getting my hands around is in a 18 

for-profit world, you have two companies merge, 19 

generally favorable in Wall Street.  You know, it'll 20 

cut --- lower costs.  I can understand the technology, 21 

but some of the comments I heard, we need to become a 22 

multi-market company, we need to grow our business, we 23 

need to spread our risk.  But at the same time we're 24 

being told, you're not going to compete outside the 25 
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service areas you currently already have saturated.  I 1 

understand that administrative piece that you’re going 2 

to save.  And what was your administrative cost now? 3 

  MS. RICE: 4 

  Well, we’re going ---. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 6 

  Well, not --- the number I know.  What 7 

percentage? 8 

  MS. RICE: 9 

  About ten percent, nine to ten percent. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 11 

  So either cut that in half, you’re 12 

talking about maybe five each? 13 

  MS. RICE: 14 

  Wow. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 16 

  I mean, what I’m trying to say is there’s 17 

not a lot of room there and now we’re talking --- but 18 

we’re putting together a merger that you're admitting 19 

right up front that we’re not going to compete more. 20 

And how do you grow your market?  How do you expand 21 

your business?  How do you become a multi-market, your 22 

words, company when you’re not going to compete in any 23 

other markets? 24 

  MS. RICE: 25 
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  That’s a good question.  I'll use an 1 

example.  Whenever we look at southeastern 2 

Pennsylvania, there are many companies just like 3 

Comcast.  They employ numbers of employees outside of 4 

Pennsylvania.  There are also many companies that they 5 

are just covering the local piece of business.  This 6 

is just an example.  We have an opportunity to grow 7 

our national business, as Steve had talked about, in 8 

gaining more members for companies that we may already 9 

have or may not have.  So in Southeastern Pennsylvania 10 

because of the new capabilities that they may have, 11 

moving onto a new platform will help us to pick up 12 

members we don’t currently have. 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 14 

  So through technology, you think that you 15 

could find ---? 16 

  MS. RICE: 17 

  That's some of it. 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 19 

  There's a limited number of the Comcasts 20 

of the world. 21 

  MS. RICE: 22 

  No, there are plenty national accounts. 23 

So in Western Pennsylvania, for example, the national 24 

account business that we represent is about 98 percent 25 
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of the national business.  And quite honestly we’re 1 

able to cover multi-locations.  Whenever we talk about 2 

multi-markets, it means a couple of things.  It means 3 

expanding the healthcare coverage that we offer to 4 

companies, to go beyond Pennsylvania as well as 5 

through the components that Steve talked about like 6 

with our dental and vision and stop loss.  Working 7 

together we have the ability to expand that further 8 

nationally. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 10 

  Okay.  Just another quick point.  You 11 

mentioned the difficulty competing with the  12 

for-profits because they have access to capital 13 

markets as a non-profit you don’t have access to.  I 14 

did hear a recommendation, if I heard it correctly, 15 

that there’d be a mandate to remain a non-profit.  Has 16 

the Blues taken a position on that? 17 

  MS. RICE: 18 

  Both of our boards, whenever they voted 19 

on combining the two companies, both strongly 20 

represented they wanted to remain non-profit. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 22 

  Would they be okay if that was included 23 

in a merger, required in the merger? 24 

  MS. RICE: 25 
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  Are we allowed to say that? 1 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 2 

  I think that as Commissioner Ario said, 3 

those are discussions probably left for later in the 4 

process.   5 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 6 

  I’m going to end with this because it 7 

seems like I'm bashing on IBC maybe a little bit, 8 

which is what I know because I'm southeast.  Every 9 

day, all day there are a lot of folks going to the 10 

hospital and getting treatments.  And you hear about 11 

the one case where there’s --- I think IBC's been a 12 

good employer in our region and I want to keep it in 13 

the region.  That's one of the concerns I have with 14 

the mergers, that we lose some of the jobs that we 15 

have here.  And I’m hearing that that probably won’t 16 

happen.   17 

  But just a comment.  I mentioned to some 18 

other folks at Independence Blue Cross, folks that I 19 

know --- I used to be in the business so I used to 20 

work with them.  Outside this room, you know, in my 21 

legislative district I have western Delaware County 22 

and part of Chester County.  I have 900 doctors in my 23 

district and I have Riddle Memorial Hospital.  I have 24 

--- Crozer-Keystone System is right nearby as well as 25 
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the Mercy System.  I think I can pretty much say every 1 

--- your partners, your words, every doctor and every 2 

hospital person that I speak to about the merger, 3 

they're not for it.  I don’t know if that’s a public 4 

relations problem for you or what, but that’s the 5 

folks that we got to talk to each and every day when 6 

we, come the end of the day, have to make a decision. 7 

And I don’t know if you need to do better outreach or 8 

I don’t know what it is, but that’s the fact.  I mean, 9 

I can’t think of a single doctor, a nurse or hospital 10 

administrator that told me they think this is a good 11 

idea.  And that’s troublesome. 12 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 13 

  Representative, I would maybe point you 14 

to some of the testimony in the Insurance Department 15 

hearings.  Because while we acknowledge that the 16 

Hospital and Health System Association of Pennsylvania 17 

and Pennsylvania Medical Society have gone on record 18 

opposing the consolidation, there were in Philadelphia 19 

a number of hospital CEO’s and physicians who spoke 20 

favorably about the consolidations.  So I would say it 21 

is not a uniform point of view from the folks that at 22 

least I talked to.  And I think the one thing that we 23 

do here is that physicians and hospitals do value and 24 

maintain a financially strong and viable  25 
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non-for-profit Blue plan as an asset.  And that’s what 1 

this consolidation is about preserving.  And so we 2 

believe that --- and I think there was testimony to 3 

that effect by some provider groups that they have a 4 

fear that if we don’t take the steps necessary to 5 

maintain, you know, our strength, that maybe that 6 

asset will not always be there in the future. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE KILLION: 8 

  Okay.  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 10 

  Representative Schroder? 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 12 

  Thank you.  On page --- I just want to 13 

get a clarification.  On page seven of testimony of 14 

Mr. --- I’m sorry.  Udvarhelyi? 15 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 16 

  Udvarhelyi (corrects pronunciation). 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 18 

  I apologize.   19 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 20 

  Dr. Steve. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 22 

  Dr. Steve, you say in addition, okay, we 23 

will commit $300 million to new and existing programs 24 

for the uninsured, underinsured and small business 25 
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employees.  My question is, where is that $300 million 1 

coming from?  Is that part of the proposed savings 2 

from the merger, --- 3 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 4 

  Yes. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 6 

  --- from the consolidation?   7 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 8 

  Yes, sir.  I thank Representative Boyd, 9 

who sort of did the math earlier.  The $300 million is 10 

a suggested use of some of the savings that are in the 11 

billion dollars of savings as we stated here.  We're 12 

certainly interested in working with the elected 13 

officials and others on the right appropriation for 14 

that.  It is a different amount of money that $350 15 

million for the extension of the community health 16 

reinvestment fund.  So if you sort of look at the 17 

initiatives to help promote access to health 18 

insurance, there is the $300 million here and then the 19 

$350 million for the extension of Community Health 20 

Reinvestment Fund. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 22 

  And then you mention on page five $100 23 

million of the efficiencies going for expanded 24 

healthcare ---- that’s healthcare quality programs.  25 
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Okay.  So you have the $300 million here on page 1 

seven, $100 million going to expand the quality 2 

programs and $350 million to continue and extend, I 3 

guess, the existing program that you just mentioned.  4 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 5 

  There’s $285 million in pharmacy savings 6 

that is ---.  7 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 8 

  And that will insure to the benefit of 9 

the subscribers? 10 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 11 

  Yes. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 13 

  Okay.  That’s the point I’m getting to 14 

here.  I guess what disturbs me, you know, is sort of 15 

the direction that all these, you know, savings are 16 

going.  I would, you know, perhaps have the warm, 17 

fuzzy feeling mentioned by Representative Boyd if I 18 

saw all those savings or the great bulk of the 19 

savings, you know, going to the benefit of those who 20 

pay the premiums in the first place.  Here’s my 21 

concern.  With healthcare premiums, you know, ever 22 

increasing --- and I’ve heard nothing that indicates 23 

that with this merger that they will not increase 24 

further. You said there will be savings.  I haven’t 25 
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heard anything that would guarantee that the savings 1 

will offset any potential increases or even if they 2 

do, probably for a relatively short period of time.  3 

But as the healthcare premiums increase, the number of 4 

businesses able to afford the premiums continues to 5 

decrease.  And those employees who were insured under, 6 

you know, private plans like this end up going onto 7 

one of our government plans which you proposed to fund 8 

here.   9 

  So it seems to me you’re going to be 10 

paying to ensure them one way or the other.  I would 11 

much rather see the savings go back to the employers, 12 

to the individuals whether they’d be big businesses or 13 

small businesses that have to pay these ever 14 

increasing premiums and much less emphasis on trying 15 

to, you know, satisfy the demands of those in the 16 

capitol building with their hand out trying to get 17 

something for their favorite program or whatever.  So 18 

that’s just my editorial comment basically, and I 19 

would hope that we could do something more to actually 20 

contain the premium costs, reduce premiums, whatever. 21 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 22 

  Representative McIlvaine-Smith? 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 24 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I thought there 25 
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would be more people.  I have four more comments and a 1 

question.  As Representative Schroder just said 2 

something about the savings will offset increases.  I 3 

have a huge concern about how reducing --- you say 4 

you're going to reduce costs, but how are you going to 5 

do that without reducing benefits?  Because the 6 

benefits that are offered --- I tell people 7 

continually you have no idea how good or bad your 8 

insurance actually is until you need it and that’s 9 

when the, I won’t say it, hits the fan.  And the thing 10 

is that there’s no way to predict.  And I understand 11 

you're in business, but I can’t get it in my head how 12 

you can be a non-profit and that overall mission 13 

doesn’t help those people because I was a customer of 14 

IBC for 28 years in my own business.  And it wasn’t 15 

there as far as I’m concerned when I needed it.  But 16 

anyway chronic diseases, when you say that those are 17 

what cost the most, are you charging higher premiums 18 

for people who smoke and drink? 19 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 20 

  We’re not charging higher premium, but we 21 

are trying to prevent complications to the disease.  22 

So one program that we've just launched this summer, 23 

which you may have heard about, which we’re calling Rx 24 

For Better Health encourages patient’s to stay 25 
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compliant with their medications.  Our data suggests, 1 

for example, that patients who are prescribed 2 

medications through their physicians for congestive 3 

heart failure, heart disease, et cetera frequently go 4 

in tell the doctor, yes, I’m taking the meds.  When we 5 

actually look at the pharmacy prescription records, we 6 

see that they're filling the prescriptions 40 percent 7 

of the time.  So they're taking them.  The problem is 8 

they're not taking them all the time.  That leads to 9 

exacerbations of the disease, trips to the emergency 10 

room.  In Philadelphia if you are a commercial member 11 

and show up in the emergency room, you have a chance 12 

of being admitted to the hospital on average about 26 13 

percent of the time.  It varies between hospitals from 14 

as high as 75 percent down to 10 percent.  If you're a 15 

Medicare member, your likelihood of being admitted to 16 

the hospital is 55 percent.   17 

  So we know that those are in many cases 18 

avoidable, preventable admissions that can be 19 

addressed by encouraging the members to follow their 20 

doctor's advice.  That’s, again, examples of the tools 21 

and technology that we think, if we invest in, will 22 

help patients, will help doctors and quite honestly 23 

will help us lower the cost of healthcare with --- in 24 

a win-win kind of a scenario. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 1 

  Right.  And I did read about that.  I 2 

think it was in my AARP newsletter because I am 3 

AARPer.  But Rx for Better Health, you know, take the 4 

meds --- and I agreed in the AARP newsletter that 5 

people have to choose between food and their 6 

prescriptions.  And they choose food. 7 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 8 

  Which is why in our program, for those 75 9 

medications, their program, we waived all co-pays.  10 

There's no charge at all. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 12 

  That’s good to know.  And then I have to 13 

ask this.  How do you justify the CEO compensations? 14 

Because the one thing that I have also read, and I’ve 15 

looked it up online, and I’m not saying that online is 16 

always the end all, be all of the truthfulness, but I 17 

saw CEO, CFO, COO’s whatever you call them in your 18 

business, but they're making anywhere from over $3 19 

million a year to $8.6 million a year.  How do you 20 

justify that? 21 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 22 

  So we know this is an important issue, 23 

and it’s a question that the insurance department 24 

asked us to give them information on.  And we did.  25 
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The matter of executive compensation, as you probably 1 

know, is a matter for the Boards of Directors, one 2 

that they take responsibility.  Executive don't set 3 

the compensation.  The information that was provided 4 

to the Insurance Department does show that the Boards 5 

have been relied on two outside consultants that with 6 

extensive knowledge, Towers Perrin being one, Mercer 7 

being the other, and that based on that actually felt 8 

that the ranges were appropriate.  So I would refer 9 

you to those materials for further detail. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 11 

  Thank you.  And lastly then, we as a 12 

state are not growing, and there are only those three 13 

million customers that I alluded to in the beginning 14 

that aren’t yours.  So you don’t have them and how are 15 

you going to grow unless you increase the premiums and 16 

decrease the benefits? 17 

  MS. RICE: 18 

  There’s actually more than three million 19 

that aren't ours.  Again the eight million is 20 

representative of Pennsylvania members as well as 21 

others across the country.  But in regards to our plan 22 

in terms of increasing it is, as I said, finding and 23 

trying to help Pennsylvania by supplying additional 24 

jobs.  So the more that we can increase our presence 25 
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nationally by gaining members, whether it's in our 1 

subsidiary products or it's doing business with 2 

Medicare which recently we gained Medicare business. 3 

We’re now hiring employees to satisfy that 4 

requirement.  That’s our plan in terms of helping and 5 

in continuing to contribute to jobs in Pennsylvania, 6 

to the economics in Pennsylvania.  But growing our 7 

business outside a traditional environment will help 8 

us to accomplish some of that. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCILVAINE-SMITH: 10 

  Thank you. 11 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 12 

  Representative Shapiro? 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 14 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Dr. Steve, this 15 

is a question for you.  I have a Dr. Steve who’s a dad 16 

who’s a pediatrician at Abington Memorial Hospital 17 

who’d be upset with me if I didn’t ask this question, 18 

so how ironic I guess.  I too want to feel warm and 19 

fuzzy the way Representative Boyd does as it relates 20 

to our --- to Pennsylvanians who are relying on Blue 21 

Cross and Highmark for their health insurance.  So 22 

that’s been asked and answered as best as you can.   23 

  I wanted to focus on the provider payment 24 

levels.  And on page six of your testimony, you used 25 
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the promoting optimal and quality of care.  I think 1 

Representative Pashiinski quoted that language as 2 

being a little too --- I forget the word that he used, 3 

but certainly not specific enough for me or for many, 4 

I think, on this panel.  And then you offer one 5 

specific about how you plan to expand pay for 6 

performance programs that provide incentives for 7 

healthcare providers delivering increasingly high 8 

quality care.  Am I to assume that that would result 9 

in increase reimbursements to some extent to some 10 

providers?  Is that what that sentence means? 11 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 12 

  Sir, I think what that sentence means is 13 

that over time increases in payments should be linked 14 

to the increase in quality of care that's being 15 

rendered to patients as apposed to a one size fits all 16 

regardless of the quality of care that’s rendered.  So 17 

we do believe --- and I think that, you know, we all 18 

experienced this in our daily lives, that in most 19 

companies compensation is tied to how well you're 20 

performing.  And so we believe that’s basically a 21 

tenant of the pay for performance. 22 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 23 

  So then theoretically if a doctor 24 

performs better, whatever better means, they will get 25 
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a chunk of that one billion in savings? 1 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 2 

  We’re actually --- as we said, the 3 

billion dollars in savings is not linked at all to our 4 

payments to providers.  In fact, we said the billion 5 

dollars savings is not coming from the providers.  6 

What we are committed to is maintaining our networks 7 

and maintaining fair and competitive reimbursement. 8 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 9 

  Perhaps I misstated the question --- or 10 

the comment.  If you’re going to save a billion --- 11 

which I believe by the way is a lot more than a 12 

billion because you don’t shoot out a billion and 13 

that’s all it’s going to be.  It’s going to be more.  14 

So of the savings that you have, you are going to 15 

reinvest that in the people that rely on you in terms 16 

of the rate payers and also reinvest that into the 17 

providers so that they will have higher 18 

reimbursements.  Is that a factual statement? 19 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 20 

  We’ve not made any decisions about 21 

reinvesting into reimbursements per se.  We’ve made 22 

investments in technology working with providers.  But 23 

I would go back to say this, since 88 to 90 cents 24 

today is going out, if I put more money into the 88 to 25 
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90 cents that I’m already paying out, premiums are 1 

going to go up because premiums are dependent today on 2 

the payment to hospitals and physicians that are the 3 

88 to 90 cents to a dollar.  So if we take the money 4 

out of the administrative expenses and put it into the 5 

88, 90 cents, the subscribers don’t benefit at all. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 7 

  So is it possible that a provider may not 8 

experience any increase in his or her reimbursements 9 

as a result of this merger? 10 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 11 

  We’re not making any representations on 12 

changes in provider reimbursement as a function of 13 

this merger. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 15 

  So that’s possible? 16 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 17 

  We’re saying that the savings are not 18 

coming from the provider reimbursement. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 20 

  Okay.  You are going to have savings.  21 

You stated you will have one billion in savings. 22 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 23 

  Out of our --- right.  And we outlined 24 

what ---. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 1 

  Okay.  And that billion could, in fact, I 2 

believe be more.  But let’s just say it’s a billion 3 

dollars.  Is some of that billion in savings going to 4 

end up resulting in higher reimbursements for 5 

providers? 6 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 7 

  The savings that we’ve outlined are not 8 

changing provider reimbursement. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 10 

  Okay.  Could provider reimbursements 11 

theoretically go down if perhaps their performance 12 

doesn’t meet the standards that IBC and Highmark set? 13 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 14 

  I don’t know the --- I mean, it would be 15 

independent.  Today, as you know, Representative, for 16 

primary care physicians we’ve operated for probably 15 17 

years a primary care and center program.  And 18 

practices do vary year to year.  So in the existing 19 

pay for performance program which has been in place 20 

for 15 years, if a provider's performance goes down 21 

this year compared to last year, for that portion and 22 

just that portion of the reimbursement that's linked 23 

to performance, it would vary. 24 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 25 
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  Okay.  So it could go down? 1 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 2 

  But it would not be related --- it’s not 3 

related at all to this consolidation.  That’s been an 4 

existing program for 13 years. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 6 

  And then you testified and you also 7 

stated not one dollar of the one billion economic 8 

benefits were resulted from reductions in provider 9 

reimbursements? 10 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 11 

  Correct. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 13 

  So you're stating, I guess, and I 14 

recognize you need to stay a bit general here, that 15 

you're going to save a billion dollars.  You couldn’t 16 

testify to Representative Boyd that that billion 17 

dollars is going to make its way to rate payers in 18 

terms of them being able to experience reductions in 19 

their healthcare premiums.  And then you testified to 20 

me, to my line of questioning, that it also may not 21 

result in increased reimbursements to physicians or to 22 

providers? 23 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 24 

  Well, let me clarify.  What I think we 25 
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testified is there’s a $100 million that we suggested 1 

will go towards programs of improving quality.  Some 2 

of that money would be used to the benefit of 3 

providers. 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 5 

  So one tenth of the billion goes to ---? 6 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 7 

  To programs that will be advantageous to 8 

both patient’s and providers. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 10 

  And a portion of that one tenth could 11 

find its way to providers in the form of increased 12 

reimbursements.  So less than one tenth of the savings 13 

could make its way to providers?   14 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 15 

  And again we’ve not represented changes. 16 

I think we've been very clear in here to say that the 17 

billion dollars in savings is not coming from reducing 18 

provider reimbursement.  We've articulated that $100 19 

million is going to programs to help improve quality. 20 

And some of the money we’ve said will go directly to 21 

service subscribers.  So the $295 million in savings 22 

will go directly to subscribers.  That’s 23 

administrative costs.  The $285 million in pharmacy 24 

savings will go directly to subscribers.  We've 25 
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suggested that the $300 million that goes to expand 1 

access to health insurance will benefit members,  I 2 

think it will also benefit providers because providers 3 

are caring for uninsured.  What I hear from providers, 4 

they'd much rather be caring for people with some type 5 

of insurance.  So $300 million expanding healthcare 6 

coverage helps pay their bill.  So I think that they 7 

will benefit from the $300 million that's going to 8 

address the uninsured and the underinsured as well, as 9 

will the $350 million to the Community Health 10 

Reinvestment Fund. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 12 

  I don’t want to take up to much time.  I 13 

think back to Representative Killion’s point.  I mean, 14 

we have many doctors in our district, two hospitals in 15 

my district and not one doctor has come to me and said 16 

you got to approve this merger because I’m going to be 17 

able to do better as a result of it.  And you're 18 

essentially testifying to state that of that savings, 19 

a very small portion of it is ear marked for 20 

providers.  And an even smaller portion of that could 21 

make its way to the providers, and when we have a 22 

situation which I know you're aware of that the 23 

gastrointestinal group in Abington, which is now not 24 

servicing patients associated with the hospital, and 25 
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then those people and those patients are coming to me 1 

and saying, you know, these guys as a small entity 2 

can’t help us practice medicine the way we need to 3 

practice to take care of patients.  Why are you going 4 

to let them get bigger?  Why are you going to let them 5 

get more power?  That's a question you have to help me 6 

answer today.  7 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 8 

  Representative, I would say this, that I 9 

think that both IBC and Highmark have a tradition, I 10 

think, of working with the provider community.  In the 11 

last two years in both organizations the size of our 12 

participating provider networks has actually 13 

increased.  It's been about seven percent for IBC, 14 

about ten percent for Highmark.  And I am not allowed 15 

to be privy to all the details of the Highmark 16 

reimbursement arrangements, but I will tell at IBC, we 17 

have been investing in the payments to providers.  So 18 

for primary care physicians alone in the last 3 years, 19 

we've increased payments for them by 20 percent.  I 20 

would say that 20 percent increase over 3 years is a 21 

substantial increase to address the concerns we’ve 22 

heard balanced against the fact that healthcare is 23 

becoming unaffordable.  That 20 percent increase 24 

that’s the benefit of those physicians is being paid 25 
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for in higher premiums.  It is a balancing act that we 1 

do every day. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE SHAPIRO: 3 

  I would just hope that as you do that 4 

balancing act that you consider putting more of the 5 

one billion or more pot into our ratepayers and into 6 

our providers in Pennsylvania.  Thank you, Mr. 7 

Chairman. 8 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 9 

  Representative Boyd? 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 11 

  I promised the chairman I would be very 12 

brief.  This is a simple yes or no question.  Pretty 13 

good setup wasn’t it?  I was boxing you into saying 14 

yes or no.  I’ve been trying to figure something out. 15 

I’ve been trying to figure why two large non-profits 16 

would want to merge to create a bigger non-profit.  17 

What’s the incentive in that?   18 

  Now, here’s what I heard today.  I heard 19 

that in the midst of the non-profits there are  20 

for-profit entities and that they differ between 21 

Highmark and IBC.  I hear that IBC writes Workers’ 22 

Comp policies and has this prescription program.  I 23 

heard Highmark has dental and a number of other core 24 

businesses that are not a part of --- that are 25 
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dissimilar from IBC.  A merged unit and expanding 1 

market share with national accounts, will Highmark now 2 

have the ability to offer to their 98 percent of the 3 

nationals account in their area that they control.  4 

Will they now be able to offer them Workers’ Comp and 5 

this new --- this prescription benefit program, yes or 6 

no and --- 7 

  MS. RICE: 8 

  Yes. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 10 

  --- and will IBC now be able to offer 11 

dental, et al, that Highmark offers in their universe? 12 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 13 

  Yes. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 15 

  Which will in the end result in a net 16 

benefit from the for-profit entities for both 17 

organizations? 18 

  MS. RICE: 19 

  I’m sorry.  I can’t just say yes or no.  20 

As we indicated earlier, I think, when we were 21 

discussing this with you, Representative.  In regards 22 

to the for-profit companies and the subsidiary 23 

companies, the goal that they have and what our CEO, 24 

and I’ll speak for Highmark because this will continue 25 
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in the merged organization, is to be profitable so 1 

they can support the poor company, the poor health 2 

business, which will allow us to continue our mission. 3 

So as it grows, we bring jobs into Pennsylvania.  As 4 

they continue to do well from a profitability 5 

perspective, it helps us to fund some of the efforts 6 

we talked about here and to support our mission. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE BOYD: 8 

  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 10 

  Thank you very much for your testimony 11 

today. 12 

  DR. UDVARHELYI: 13 

  Thank you. 14 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 15 

  Our next presenter is Dan Vukmer, Vice 16 

President General Counsel to UPMC Health Plan. 17 

  MR. VUKMER: 18 

  Thank you very much. 19 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 20 

  And I will tell you that if this happens 21 

again, we will make sure that you go before Highmark 22 

and IBC. 23 

  MR. VUKMER: 24 

  That’s quite all right.  I’m the person 25 
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that's standing between you and the end of the 1 

hearing. I will be as brief as possible. 2 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 3 

  Please.  You waited your turn, we'll 4 

wait. 5 

  MR. VUKMER: 6 

  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  My name is 7 

Dan Vukmer, and I'm the Vice President and General 8 

Counsel of University of Pittsburgh Medical Centers 9 

Insurance Division including its flagship HMO, UPMC 10 

Health Plan.  I appreciate the opportunity to come 11 

before you to provide testimony related to the 12 

potential consolidation of Highmark and IBC.  For 13 

those of you who may be less familiar with UPMC, we’re 14 

an integrated delivery and financing system and the 15 

second largest non-governmental employer in 16 

Pennsylvania.  Our health insurance companies provide 17 

healthcare financing services to over 1.2 million 18 

members to a variety of insurance and prepaid health 19 

programs. 20 

  These programs cover approximately 21 

300,000 commercial insurers and self-funded group 22 

members, Medicare, Medicaid, behavioral health 23 

programs and workplace plans like short-term 24 

disability, employee assistance and wellness programs. 25 
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We operate primarily in western Pennsylvania but cover 1 

individuals throughout the Commonwealth through our 2 

behavioral health company, Community Care Behavioral 3 

Health.   4 

  The landscape in Pennsylvania has been 5 

very competitive, but we have succeeded in growing our 6 

company across all lines of business in western 7 

Pennsylvania and in some cases across the 8 

Commonwealth.  We focus on bringing affordable 9 

options, innovative programs, high quality outcomes 10 

and an exceptional level of service to our customers. 11 

Although commercial membership growth is challenging, 12 

we have had some success.  Our greatest growth in 13 

recent years has been across all of our government 14 

programs where historical distribution channels are 15 

less relevant then in commercial products. 16 

  A competitive insurance market benefits 17 

the public and drives innovation, cost containment and 18 

quality.  We are very concerned that the proposed 19 

Highmark/IBC merger will reduce the competitive 20 

opportunities in the Commonwealth across commercial 21 

and governmental business resulting in fewer choices 22 

for consumers and ultimately higher costs, less 23 

innovation and lower quality.  Consequently, we oppose 24 

the consolidation.   25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

160

  There are three key reasons for our 1 

opposition.  First, the newly created entity will 2 

create a dominant statewide company that will diminish 3 

competition from the other health insurers in an 4 

already challenging market.  Second, the transaction 5 

will harm consumers because diminished competition 6 

increases cost, reduces access and leads to less 7 

innovation and quality improvement.  Finally, an 8 

entity the size of the combined Highmark/IBC will have 9 

the ability to unduly influence health policy and 10 

regulation in the Commonwealth in ways that will not 11 

be in the best interest of Pennsylvania consumers. 12 

  We greatly appreciate this committee’s 13 

role in assisting the Pennsylvania Insurance 14 

Department to protect consumers and ensure that those 15 

consumers have access to high quality and affordable 16 

healthcare.  The Insurance Company Holding Act 17 

provides that the focus of the Department should be 18 

the impact of the proposed merger on the 19 

competitiveness of the health insurance market.   20 

  The size of the new entity that would be 21 

created would be unprecedented in any one geographical 22 

market in the United States.  It takes a moderately 23 

competitive market as Pennsylvania now stands and 24 

creates a new dominant competitor with a statewide 25 
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footprint.  The Highmark/IBC would account for 1 

approximately 75 percent of the statewide HMO 2 

enrollment and 64 percent of the PPO enrollment for 3 

commercially ensured residents.  Collectively, they 4 

would provide coverage for seven out of ten 5 

Pennsylvania commercially insured residents under the 6 

age of 65. 7 

  Additionally, the combined entity will 8 

operate the largest administrative services only 9 

provider for self insured employers in Pennsylvania, a 10 

platform that we use to solidify its dominant health 11 

insurance market position.  The combined entity will 12 

be a mega insurer, the eighth largest in the nation.  13 

The other mega insurers operate in at least 4 states, 14 

most of them in 20 or more.  In contrast, almost all 15 

of the new entity's business will be concentrated in 16 

one state, Pennsylvania.  It will hold more than $10 17 

billion in assets including nearly $9 billion in cash 18 

and investments and almost $7 billion in capital and 19 

surplus.  In 2007 Pennsylvania derived premium revenue 20 

of more than $12 billion will be almost seven times 21 

more than the next largest health insurer operating in 22 

the Commonwealth.   23 

  Let me now turn to the public sector of 24 

government business, which is of equal importance in 25 
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understanding the problems inherent in this potential 1 

merger.  Currently Medicare advantage and Medicaid 2 

managed care markets are more competitive than 3 

commercial markets in Pennsylvania.  Highmark and IBC 4 

separately have less than 50 percent of Medicare and 5 

even less in Medicaid.  The consolidation will enable 6 

a new entity to become dominate in these markets.  For 7 

example, in the Lehigh/Capitol region, post this 8 

merger, 80 percent of the Medicaid members will be 9 

covered through this new entity versus only 40 percent 10 

that are covered today by IBC and Highmark separately. 11 

Similarly, it will be in a position to use its 12 

enormous surplus to potentially drive Medicaid 13 

competitors from the market. 14 

  The new entity will be positioned to 15 

control market pricing over the long run deciding when 16 

to bid aggressively and when to raise pricing 17 

significantly, as we have see occur repeatedly over 18 

the years in the commercial group health business 19 

where pricing bounces significantly.  This 20 

consolidation also positions the entity to take 21 

advantage of any new federal insurance changes that 22 

may be on the horizon which are procured and 23 

implemented at the state level.  This could include 24 

group purchase coalitions or individual coverage 25 
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programs with or without premium support from 1 

government.   2 

  In short, the proposed merger is one of 3 

the largest of its kind in US history and will convert 4 

a competitive market to one controlled by a monolithic 5 

competitor overnight.  Highmark/IBC will control all 6 

markets in which it competes, commercial, Medicaid, 7 

Medicare, stop loss, dental, vision and administrative 8 

services only business. 9 

  In addition to being the super dominant 10 

carrier as a percentage of market share, it will also 11 

control commercial and Medicare distribution channels 12 

as it can and will pay higher broker fees at least 13 

until regional plans are no longer a threat.   14 

  Our second key reason for opposing the 15 

proposed consolidation is the concern that it will 16 

harm consumers and not improve affordability, access 17 

or quality.  Valued to the consumer comes in the form 18 

of more affordable healthcare.  Affordability requires 19 

lower costs.  Healthcare costs have two parts, what is 20 

spent on medical care and what is spent on 21 

administrative expenses.   22 

  When we evaluate the reasons for the 23 

healthcare cost increases in the United States, the 24 

most significant cost drivers for the past two decades 25 
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have been the increase and the prevalence of chronic 1 

conditions and the increase of what is called the 2 

treated prevalence of disease.  That is more people 3 

have disease and more people who have disease are 4 

being treated for those conditions, including 5 

treatment with the new technologies.   6 

  Administrative costs, although very 7 

important to control do not appear to have contributed 8 

to the trend in cost increases.  If healthcare is 9 

going to become more affordable, there has to be a way 10 

to deal with the cost factors that are actually 11 

driving trends.  Highmark and IBC have yet to show 12 

that the proposed consolidation will enable them to 13 

control medical spending more effectively together 14 

than they can independently.  Are they planning to 15 

adequately reimburse hospitals and physicians? 16 

Pennsylvania hospitals are already on the verge of 17 

financial --- are already on average financially 18 

fragile and Pennsylvania is already losing physicians 19 

to markets where reimbursement is more attractive.   20 

  New and innovative ways are needed to 21 

prevent and treat chronic disease.  There's no reason 22 

to think large insurers are more effective in 23 

producing higher quality outcomes.  In fact, most of 24 

the insures nationwide that score the highest on 25 
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quality outcomes for the members are smaller often 1 

regional plans which have the ability and the primary 2 

mission to focus on local care strategies with their 3 

members and local physician and hospital communities. 4 

  The second way to reduce costs is to 5 

lower the administrative portion of the expense.  6 

Highmark and IBC contend that they will do this as 7 

part of the value of the consolidation.  There is no 8 

evidence, however, that mergers of health insurance 9 

companies result in lower administrative costs.  My 10 

written testimony includes a chart showing the 11 

administrative cost before and after merger of Blues 12 

plans across the country.  It shows that post merger 13 

there is rarely, if any, reduction in administrative 14 

cost as a percentage of premiums.  We would ask for 15 

specific substantive evidence that health insurance 16 

mergers like this one will result in administrative 17 

savings that benefit premium pricing and consumer 18 

affordability.   19 

  Is a merger required to reduce their 20 

administrative costs?  The answer is no.  Is it 21 

possible to be a smaller plan and have lower 22 

administrative costs?  UPMC Health Plans have 23 

consistently run at or below eight percent 24 

administrative costs, and we have not needed the 25 
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alleged scale of economy to achieve this relatively 1 

low administrative cost structure.  What we have 2 

needed is efficient methods and a competitive need to 3 

keep costs low to grow our business.  Lower overhead 4 

is one of the reasons we have been successful.   5 

  We would ask this committee and the 6 

Department to evaluate what the track record has been 7 

for other mergers, including the merger between Blue 8 

Cross and Blue Shield to create Highmark in 1996.  Did 9 

the merger create administrative efficiencies that led 10 

to lower admin expense ratios?  It does not appear to 11 

us that it did.  A review of Blues mergers in other 12 

parts of the US suggest the same result.  We find that 13 

there’s little reason to believe that either scale or 14 

scope economies will result in savings. 15 

  Are premiums higher in states with more 16 

concentrated markets?  The answer is yes.  In general, 17 

our evaluation shows that in states where there’s a 18 

more --- there are more competition among health 19 

insures, consumers win.  Where companies compete they 20 

develop new innovative ways of delivering their 21 

products or services and seek out the highest level 22 

efficiency for that delivery.  The result is more 23 

affordable prices for customers.  Health insurance is 24 

no different.  An examination of data from 31 states 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

167

generated by the Department of Justice and the 1 

Association of Health Insurance Plans, of which both 2 

Highmark and IBC are members, shows that the average 3 

cost in health insurance premiums in states with 4 

higher than average levels of competition is 12 5 

percent lower than premiums in states with lower than 6 

average competition. 7 

  Will the merger improve access to quality 8 

care?  To answer that question the Department must 9 

consider the impact of the merger on healthcare 10 

providers, physicians and hospitals.  If the merger 11 

reduces access to quality healthcare, consumers are 12 

hurt.  After their consolidation, Highmark/IBC will 13 

have even more negotiating power enabling it to reduce 14 

the prices it pays the providers.  If healthcare 15 

providers are forced to leave the state or close 16 

operations in areas of the state that currently have 17 

marginal access or have no resources to invest in 18 

aging plans to improve technology, consumers suffer.  19 

In fact, data show that healthcare providers are on a 20 

more tenuous financial ground in those states where 21 

there are dominant health insurance companies.  The 22 

healthcare providers, doctors and hospitals have older 23 

facilities, less money available for upgrading care 24 

and services, and limited opportunity to save for 25 
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future needs. 1 

  Pennsylvania hospitals are already --- 2 

excuse me --- on average already perform below 3 

national averages across key financial indicators as 4 

reflected in the chart included in our written 5 

testimony.  The system is rather fragile and in 6 

Pennsylvania we have the additional responsibility of 7 

caring for one of the nations oldest populations.   8 

  Pennsylvania’s hospitals are not the only 9 

healthcare providers suffering from the consequences 10 

of lower reimbursement.  In addition to the adverse 11 

impact to be felt by hospitals an already oppressed 12 

physician market will simply get worse.  There was a 13 

reduction of 1,632 positions involved in providing 14 

direct patient care in Pennsylvania between 2004 and 15 

2006.  This reduction has been reflected in just about 16 

every physician, specialty and geographic region in 17 

the Commonwealth.  Approximately six percent --- I 18 

should say only six percent of Pennsylvania physicians 19 

are under the age of 35 while 50 percent are over the 20 

age of 50.  Residency retention for those who stay in 21 

Pennsylvania to actively practice has dropped from 60 22 

percent in 1992 to approximately 22 percent in 2006. 23 

Coincidently, Pennsylvania physicians received some of 24 

the lowest insurance reimbursement in the nation from 25 
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both Medicaid and commercial insurance for evaluation 1 

and management services.  Based on the conduct of 2 

dominant Blues plans in other states as well as 3 

Pennsylvania, reimbursement to Pennsylvania physicians 4 

will be driven even lower by the Highmark/IBC entity 5 

as the super dominant carrier thus exacerbating 6 

Pennsylvania’s physician exodus problem. 7 

  The answer to the second question, will 8 

the proposed merge benefits consumers is no.  It will 9 

not improve affordability of healthcare, access to 10 

healthcare or quality of care.  In fact, the merger 11 

will be harmful to all three.   12 

  The third reason we oppose the merger 13 

relates to the role and entity this size has an 14 

influencing health policy in healthcare regulatory 15 

issues.  Questions such as what should be the size of 16 

allowable reserves?  How can reserves be used?  What 17 

is considered a community benefit?  What services such 18 

as pharmacy or mental health should be carved in or 19 

out of capitated benefits?  What should pay for 20 

performance plans look like and et cetera?   21 

  The proposed merger will concentrate even 22 

greater influence in policymaking matters into the 23 

hands of one organization.  It will be difficult, if 24 

not impossible, for officials to manage an 25 
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organization that represents eight million citizens on 1 

complex industry-specific issues that are often shades 2 

of gray rather than black and white. 3 

  In other states when market share has 4 

been highly concentrated, the influence of the 5 

dominant entity appears to grow.  For example, there’s 6 

significant documentation of concerns among citizens 7 

in Michigan related to consolidation and the resulting 8 

influence there.  In fact the attorney general has 9 

recently brought suit against the Michigan Blues plan 10 

for alleged improper behavior in the passage of money 11 

between for-profit and not-for-profit entities.   12 

  The merged companies would reportedly 13 

return one billion dollars to the Commonwealth in the 14 

form of community investment.  The size of the 15 

investment being offered by the two companies in 16 

return for approval of the merger seems woefully 17 

inadequate, even if it can be crystallized, for the 18 

premium revenue they will derive from the Pennsylvania 19 

insurance market, which we estimate to be 20 

approximately $500 billion over a ten year period.  A 21 

similar transaction among publicly traded companies 22 

would require an investment of tens of billions of 23 

dollars.   24 

  We question the future agenda of the 25 
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merged entity.  The parties have paved the way to 1 

create a single dominant statewide insurer for all 2 

government and commercial products.  We are concerned 3 

that if this consolidation occurs, the combination is 4 

more likely to convert to a publicly traded company in 5 

the future.  The market value of what will be created 6 

is something we believe the department should 7 

appraise.  A billion dollars seems an unusually low 8 

contribution for the opportunity to control virtually 9 

all market segments in such a large state.   10 

  In summary, I would like to thank you for 11 

the opportunity to provide this testimony.  We believe 12 

that Pennsylvania has never faced a more important 13 

health policy decision.  Whether to allow the creation 14 

of a behemoth health insurer within the boundaries of 15 

our Commonwealth will have a more profound and lasting 16 

impact on health outcomes for the citizens of 17 

Pennsylvania than any other decision that will be made 18 

regarding health policy in the foreseeable future.   19 

  We see the obvious benefit to Highmark 20 

and IBC.  We do not see a public benefit for 21 

consumers, or a benefit of this transaction for other 22 

healthcare stakeholders.  Thank you.  I’ll be happy to 23 

answer any questions you may have. 24 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 25 
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  Thank you.  Representative Manderino? 1 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 2 

  Thank you.  Thank you for your testimony. 3 

I’m familiar with UMPC as a provider and a health 4 

system, but not as a health plan.  For-profit or  5 

not-for-profit? 6 

  MR. VUKMER: 7 

  The insurance division is headed up by 8 

its flagship HMO which is a not-for-profit 9 

Pennsylvania corporation.  There are a number of  10 

non-for-profit federally tax exempt and for-profit 11 

corporations.  I believe there are two for-profit out 12 

of eight. 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 14 

  So when you say 6,000 subscribers in your 15 

health plan insurance services division, you were 16 

combining all of those? 17 

  MR. VUKMER: 18 

  That’s correct.  And that's 6,000 groups. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 20 

  Oh, 6,000 groups? 21 

  MR. VUKMER: 22 

  Yes, ma’am. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 24 

  What’s the subscriber base at if you 25 
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know? 1 

  MR. VUKMER: 2 

  Fully insured, meaning we take the risk 3 

for it, classic health insurance, about 180,000.  Self 4 

insured where the employer group is insured and we do 5 

the administrative services about another 150,000. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 7 

  And are you in like --- what’s the market 8 

territory of your plan, southwestern Pennsylvania, 13 9 

counties?  I mean, don’t ---. 10 

  MR. VUKMER: 11 

  It’s approximately 26 counties in Western 12 

Pennsylvania for the health insurance business, 13 

although one of our entities is Community Care 14 

Behavior Health that offers behavior health carve out 15 

to the Medicaid program across the entire 16 

Commonwealth, I believe, in over 50 counties. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 18 

  So in the western Pennsylvania 19 

marketplace, UPMC Health Plan and I guess Highmark 20 

would be the Blues entity? 21 

  MR. VUKMER: 22 

  That’s correct. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 24 

  How do each of you compare market  25 
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share-wise? 1 

  MR. VUKMER: 2 

  I believe Highmark has roughly 70 percent 3 

of the market in western Pennsylvania.  I’m not 4 

exactly sure.  Determining market share is very 5 

difficult, very complex but we’re probably in the 15 6 

percent range of western Pennsylvania. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 8 

  When you calculate your administrative 9 

costs, do you have that for UPMC Health Plan insurance 10 

services division, one entity, or do you say our  11 

non-profit division has these kinds of administrative 12 

costs and our for-profit has these?  I’m trying to get 13 

a sense of that and kind of comparing what we 14 

understand to be the status of the current Highmark or 15 

the current IBC and what we would understand to be the 16 

combined entity.  And I’m just trying to get a sense 17 

of similarly situated folks in the marketplace. 18 

  MR. VUKMER: 19 

  Sure.  I'm not on the finance end, but 20 

I'm pretty sure we don’t break it out as between  21 

for-profit and not-for-profit.  We break it down, from 22 

the reports I’ve seen, by product line.  So if 23 

Medicaid, Medicare, administrative only, fully 24 

insured.  And in some of those cases, for example, our 25 
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Medicaid is run out of one of our not-for-profit 1 

corporations.  So in that case when we figure out 2 

those administrative costs, it is allocated to that 3 

product and that corporation.   4 

  And they go anywhere between 7 and 8.2 5 

roughly.  So they're a little under eight overall for 6 

the insurance division, but they all run roughly the 7 

same.  And the reason they're going to run roughly the 8 

same is because UPMC Health Plan employs most of --- 9 

almost all of the people.  And then through 10 

administrative service agreements, it provides 11 

services, executive services, financial services, 12 

legal services to the other entities.  So they share 13 

in those costs.  So they're administrative costs are 14 

going to be roughly the same, and they hover around 15 

eight percent. 16 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 17 

  So for a plan that is much smaller than 18 

the current existing Blues plan with which you compete 19 

in the western Pennsylvania territory, you're saying 20 

that your administrative costs are lower than what I 21 

heard them say the administrative costs were for 22 

Highmark, which I thought I heard to be ten percent? 23 

  MR. VUKMER: 24 

  Yes, based on what they’ve testified to 25 
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at ten.  I haven't personally calculated theirs, but 1 

if they said that’s what it is, then we would be lower 2 

than that, yes. 3 

  REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: 4 

  So if you get bigger, your costs will get 5 

higher?  Just tongue in cheek comments.  Thank you, 6 

Mr. Chairman. 7 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 8 

  Representative McIvaine-Smith? 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE MCIVAINE-SMITH: 10 

  I didn't ask you to speak.  I'm sorry.  I 11 

think Representative Schroder ---. 12 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 13 

  Representative Schroder? 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 15 

  Thanks.  Page seven of your testimony, 16 

the chart that you referenced, what I’m wondering, is 17 

this a comprehensive listing of Blues plans that have 18 

merged and the result between their pre-merger 19 

administrative cost percentage and their post? 20 

  MR. VUKMER: 21 

  Yes.  We engaged an expert, Dr. Henry 22 

Miller, who is a nationally known economist to help  23 

gather data and do the study for us.  We did not ask 24 

him go find us just things that will be favorable for 25 
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us to show to any particular group we’re testifying 1 

to, but do a comprehensive review for us.  And this is 2 

the data that we came back with.  I’d be happy to 3 

share this entire report with you. 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 5 

  But it says selected Blue Cross and Blue 6 

Shield plans. 7 

  MR. VUKMER: 8 

  Yeah.  I believe it was selected based 9 

upon larger market shares because there are a number 10 

of Blues plans out there that might be the only plan, 11 

in fact, for a state but maybe they’ve got 27 percent 12 

market share. 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 14 

  Do you know how many Blues plans have 15 

merged in addition to what is shown here? 16 

  MR. VUKMER: 17 

  No, I do not. 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODEE: 19 

  Okay.  And you compare the cost the year 20 

prior to merger with the costs the year --- first of 21 

all, my question is, did these all merge in 2006 or 22 

did they merge in years prior to that? 23 

  MR. VUKMER: 24 

  In years prior to that.  And these range 25 
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between --- in fact, it says here ’97 in the brackets. 1 

I’m sorry.  In the parenthetical for each one, ’97, 2 

’95, ’00.  We looked at 2000 just because --- well, 3 

our expert says that they wanted to go out far enough 4 

so if there were any meaningful change, that it would 5 

have plenty of time to show this. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE SCHRODER: 7 

  Well, I would just be interested in 8 

knowing what the full universe of Blues mergers is. 9 

You know, how many more are out there that aren't 10 

represented on here and what those results were as 11 

well.  Thank you. 12 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 13 

  Thank you very much.  We appreciate your 14 

testimony. 15 

  MS. VUKMER: 16 

  Thank you for your time. 17 

  CHAIRMAN BUXTON: 18 

  That concludes our hearing.  Thank you 19 

for your attendance.  We are now adjourned.        20 
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